**A picture containing drawing, sign

Description automatically generated**

Standard Water Licence Conditions Template

Version 2.1

February 9, 2023

**Introduction**

The Water Licence Conditions Team (the Team), formed jointly by the Gwich’in, Sahtu, Wek'èezhìı, and Mackenzie Valley Land and Water Boards (the LWBs), is pleased to present Version 2.1 of the *Standard Water Licence Conditions Template* (the Template). The Template has been approved by the LWBs for staff to use when developing draft water licences.

The standard conditions forming the Template have been established by the Team based on information from LWB policies and guidelines, other applicable guidelines and best practices, meetings with Inspectors, input from Board staff, and feedback from the public review. Conditions have been evaluated by the Team and reviewed by legal counsel against the following five characteristics of an ideal condition:

* Clearly part of LWBs’ authority;
* Has a clear purpose and rationale;
* Is practical and enforceable; and
* Does not conflict with existing legislation (i.e., is not less stringent).

New, revised, and/or project-specific conditions may still be used at the discretion of the LWBs provided they meet the characteristics listed above and are appropriate for the scale and nature of the project – these conditions will be evaluated for use through the [*Standard Process for New Conditions*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/2021-07/LWB%20Standard%20Process%20for%20New%20Conditions%20-%20Jul%2019_21.pdf).

This Template will be used during the review and approval process for new licences, renewals, and amendments (including amendments initiated by the licensee, the LWBs, or as part of an assignment process). Changes may be made to the Template under the direction of the Executive Directors of the LWBs, and the up-to-date Template will be maintained on the LWB websites.

Reviewers are encouraged to refer to the conditions and rationale in the Template when making recommendations to the Board regarding mitigation measures for specific projects. The Team also welcomes feedback from applicants and reviewers regarding specific conditions and rationale at any time.

**Revision History Table – Standard Water Licence Conditions Template**

| **Date** | **Section** | **Revision** |
| --- | --- | --- |
| Version 2.1  February 2023 | General | * Updated references to the LWBs’ *Waste and Wastewater Management Policy* and other new and updated LWB guidance documents * Corrected typographical and grammatical errors * Revised overall standard structure for licence Schedules, Annexes, and Attachments:   + Schedules: part of licence and can be updated as per UPDATES TO SCHEDULES AND COMPLIANCE DATES Condition (unless amendment proceeding is determined to be necessary)   + Annexes: part of licence and changes require an amendment proceeding   + Attachments: supplemental information only and not part of licence |
| Part A: Scope and Defined Terms | * Revised options in SCOPE – PRELIMINARY SCREEENING Condition to better reflect the LWBs’ current comprehensive approach to screening determinations * Revised defined terms to reflect LWBs’ *Waste and Wastewater Management Policy* (Deposit of Waste, Discharge, EQC, Receiving Environment, Receiving Waters, Unauthorized Release, Watercourse) * Clarified that Freeboard is related to still water/wastewater level * Added definition for Sludge Management Plan |
| Part B: General | * Revised SUBMISSION FORMAT Condition:   + Add *Geospatial Data Submission Standards*   + Remove conformity table (now in *Document Submission Standards*) * Added COMPLY WITH ANNEXES Condition |
| Part D: Water Use | * Added option to WATER SOURCE AND MAXIMUM VOLUME Condition for licences with water sources listed in an Annex * Revised LENTIC WATER SOURCE – MINIMUM DEPTH Condition:   + Added reference to new verification condition   + Clarified limitations of Condition to lentic water sources and under-ice conditions * Added WATER SOURCE DEPTH VERIFICATION Condition to reflect MVLWB/GNWT *Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects* * Reinstated references to current best practice guidance documents in WATER INTAKE SCREEN Condition |
| Part F: Waste and Water Management | * Added SLUDGE MANAGEMENT PLAN Condition to reflect the MVLWB/IWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Municipal Sludge Management for Passage Sewage Treatment Systems in the Northwest Territories* * Added a requirement for confirmation of Dam Safety Review timing and frequency to ANNUAL GEOTECHNICAL INSPECTION Condition * Added NOTIFICATION – DAM SAFETY REVIEW Condition for consistency with notification requirement for Annual Geotechnical Inspection * In rationale for DAM SAFETY REVIEW Condition, clarified that *Dam Safety Guidelines* includes the relevant Technical Bulletin * Revised DAM SAFETY REVIEW REPORT Condition:   + Clarified that Report must be in accordance with *Dam Safety Guidelines* for consistency with DAM SAFETY REVIEW Condition   + Added requirement for *Dam Safety Guidelines* conformity table   + Added requirements for statement on safety of Dam and list of findings with prioritized recommendations to better reflect *Dam Safety Guidelines*   + Revised requirement for status update on previous Dam Safety Review to be limited to outstanding recommendations to reflect new requirement for annual updates in Annual Water Licence Report * Clarified rationale for NOTIFICATION – WASTE DISPOSAL Condition:   + Purpose of Condition   + Consequences of delayed submission of initial written agreement with facility   + Expectations for contingency planning * Clarified limitations of Inspector’s authority in rationale for SEWAGE AND SOLID WASTE – MUNICIPAL Condition |
| Schedule 1: Surveillance Network Program | * Moved SNP from an Annex to a Schedule to reflect overall update to structure of licences * Added skeleton outline for SNP |
| Schedule X: Annual Water Licence Report | * Added option to specify a reporting year other than the calendar year * Added/revised annual waste management reporting information requirements for municipal licences:   + Sewage Disposal Facilities Operations and Maintenance Plan   + Solid Waste Disposal Facilities Operations and Maintenance Plan   + Sludge management * Revised annual reporting requirement for Dam Safety Review Report to focus on implementation plan status update |
| Annex A: Authorized Potential Water Sources and Maximum Water Use Volumes | * Added to reflect overall update to standard structure for licences |
| Attachments | * Added standard table outline for Concordance Table of Items Requiring Submission and Revision History Table |
| Version 2.0  February 2022 | General | * Updated references to new and updated LWB guidance documents * Corrected typographical and grammatical errors |
| Part A: Scope and Defined Terms | * Revised options in SCOPE – PRELIMINARY SCREEENING Condition to provide option for projects screened after EA/EIR * Definition of Construction – revised in response to comments to improve clarity about what constitutes construction and requires submission of revised plans. * Definition of Engineer of Record – revised to include dams other than tailings dams |
| Part B: General | * Revised REVISIONS Condition in response to review comments to clarify that this condition applies to all types of submissions that require Board approval |
| Part C: Security | * Revised rationale for POST SECURITY DEPOSIT Condition in response to review comments to clarify why security amounts are placed in a schedule rather than in the condition itself |
| Part D: Water Use | * Revised WATER SOURCE AND MAXIMUM VOLUME Condition to add an option for split-interest projects * Added new MINIMUM WATER SOURCE DEPTH reflect the minimum water source depth specified in the new LWB *Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects* * Updated MAXIMUM UNDER-ICE WATER WITHDRAWAL VOLUME Condition to reflect the calculation methods set out in the new LWB *Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects* |
| Part E: Construction | * Updated HYDROCARBON-CONTAMINATED SOIL TREATMENT FACILITIES Condition to correctly reflect the full scope of the MVLWB/IWB/GNWT *Guideline for Design, Operation, Maintenance, and Closure of Petroleum Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facilities in the Northwest Territories.* * Revised CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL – SOURCES Condition and rationale to clarify that this condition does not allow the Inspector to authorize quarrying locations * Revised STRUCTURE DESCRIPTION AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN/DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN/DESIGN DRAWINGS Conditions in response to review comments to clarify how changes such as upgrades and replacements to structures are approved |
| Part I: Closure and Reclamation | * Updated title and rationale for POST-CLOSURE MONITORING AND MAINTENANCE PLAN Condition in response to review comments to remove ‘reclamation’ for clarity, and to change timing of plan to be project-specific in all cases |
| Schedules | * Added new Schedules for   + Security   + Construction   + Waste and Water Management * Revised Closure and Reclamation Schedule to include detailed information requirements for Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plan |
| Version 1.0  April 2020 |  | Original release. |

**Type A/B Water Licence LICENCE NUMBER**

**Licensee Name – Project Name**

**Table of Contents**

Part A: [Scope](#_Scope:_2) and [Defined Terms](#_Defined_Terms)

[Part B](#_Part_B:_General_1): General Conditions

[Part C](#_Part_C:_Security): Security

[Part D](#_Part_D:_Water_1): Water Use

[Part E](#_Part_E:_Construction_1): Construction

[Part F](#_Part_F:_Waste_1): Waste and Water Management

[Part G](#_Part_G:_Aquatic_1): Aquatic Effects Monitoring

[Part H](#_PART_H:_Spill_1): Spill Contingency Planning

[Part I](#_Part_I:_Closure_1): Closure and Reclamation

**Schedules (if applicable)**

[Schedule 1](#_Schedule_1:_Surveillance): Surveillance Network Program (Part B)

[Schedule X:](#_Schedule_X:_Annual) Annual Water Licence Report (Part B)

[Schedule X](#_Schedule_H:_Conditions): Security (Part C)

[Schedule X](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions): Construction (Part E)

[Schedule X](#_Part_F:_Waste_1): Waste and Water Management (Part F)

[Schedule X](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions_4): Aquatic Effects Monitoring (Part G)

[Schedule X](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions_2): Closure and Reclamation (Part I)

[**Annex A**](#_Annex_A:_Authorized)**:** Authorized Water Sources (if applicable)

**Attachments:**

[Attachment A](#_Attachment_A_–): Concordance Table of Items Requiring Submission

[Attachment B](#_Attachment_B_–): Revision History Table

|  |  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- | --- |
|  | Part A: Scope and Defined Terms |  |  | |
|  | Scope: | **Condition Title** | **Rationale** | |
| 1. | This Licence entitles the Licensee to use Water and deposit Waste for [enter type of licence based on code] activities at the [enter name of Project].  The scope of this Licence includes the following:   1. [enter list of activities]; 2. Withdrawal of Water for [enter purpose]; 3. Dewatering of [enter all or a portion of XXX Water source] to [enter location/facility], 4. Deposit of Waste to from [enter source or facility] [enter location/watercourse]; 5. Construction, operation, and maintenance of [enter type/name of Watercourse crossing(s): e.g., bridge, pipeline, etc.]; 6. Construction, operation and maintenance of [enter type/name of Watercourse training(s): e.g., barge landing, culverts, etc.]; 7. Construction, operation, and maintenance of [enter type/name of flood control structures]; 8. Construction, operation, and maintenance of [enter type/name of Watercourse diversion structure]; 9. Construction, operation, and maintenance of [enter: Dams and/or dykes]; 10. Construction, operation and maintenance of [enter name of facility/structure]; and 11. Progressive Reclamation and associated Closure and Reclamation activities. | **SCOPE** | The purpose of this Condition is to describe the scope of the Licence, which includes the activities that have been subject to Part 5 of the MVRMA and that the Licensee is entitled to conduct.  The scope of all licences will include (a) and (k); however, (b) through (j) will only be included as appropriate. Project-specific details will be filled in throughout this Condition. | |
| 2. | Option 1:  The scope of the Project is as described in the Preliminary Screening Determination for [enter licence number], dated [enter full date of most recent preliminary screening for the project].  OR  Option 2:  The scope of the Project is as described in [enter location of information, i.e., “Table X: Final Scope of Development”] in the Report of Environmental Assessment [enter MVEIRB file number]. | **SCOPE – PRELIMINARY SCREENING**  **OR**  **SCOPE – POST ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT** | The intent of this Condition is to reference the scope as described in the Preliminary Screening by the Land and Water Board, or the Report of Environmental Assessment developed by MVEIRB. For projects that are screened after an environmental assessment or impact review (EA/EIR), the new screening will capture the EA/EIR and/or any previous screenings, so the first option will be used. | |
| 3. | Option 1:  This Licence is issued subject to the conditions contained herein with respect to the use of Water and the Deposit of Waste in any Waters or in any place under any conditions where such Waste or any other Waste that results from the Deposit of such Waste may enter any Waters. Any change made to the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act* and/or the Mackenzie Valley Federal Areas Waters Regulations that affects licence conditions and defined terms will be deemed to have amended this Licence.  OR  Option 2:  This Licence is issued subject to the conditions contained herein with respect to the use of Water and the Deposit of Waste in any Waters or in any place under any conditions where such Waste or any other Waste that results from the Deposit of such Waste may enter any Waters. Any change made to the *Waters Act* and/or Waters Regulations that affects licence conditions and defined terms will be deemed to have amended this Licence. | **LEGISLATION SUBJECT TO CHANGE** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee complies with all applicable legislation for the life of the Licence. | |
| 4. | Compliance with this Licence does not relieve the Licensee from responsibility for compliance with the requirements of any applicable federal, territorial, [Tłı̨chǫ], [Délı̨nę], or municipal legislation. | **LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee complies with all applicable legislation for the life of the authorization. | |
| **Defined Terms** [[1]](#footnote-2) | | | |
| **Acid Rock Drainage** – acidic Water, often with elevated sulphate concentrations, that occurs as a result of oxidation of sulphide minerals contained in rock or other materials that are exposed as a result of natural weathering processes, Construction, or Project activities. | | | |
| **Action Level** – a predetermined qualitative or quantitative trigger which, if exceeded, requires the Licensee to take appropriate actions. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Analyst** – an Analyst designated by the Minister under subsection 65(1) of the *Waters Act*.  OR  Option 2:  **Analyst** – an Analyst designated by the Minister under subsection 84(2) of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act*. | | | |
| **Aquatic Effects Monitoring Program (AEMP) –** a monitoring programdeveloped for the Project in accordance with this Licence and the MVLWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring Programs.* | | | |
| **Artesian Aquifer** – a Water-bearing stratum which, when encountered during drilling operations, produces a pressurized flow of Groundwater that reaches an elevation above the Water table or above the ground surface. | | | |
| **Average Concentration** – the arithmetic mean/discrete average of four consecutive analytical results, [or if less than four analytical results, the arithmetic mean/discrete average of the analytical results collected during a batch decant,] as submitted to the Board in accordance with the sampling and analysis requirements specified in the Surveillance Network Program. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Board** – the [enter one of the regional Boards: Gwich’in Land and Water Board, Sahtu Land and Water Board, or Wek'èezhìı Land and Water Board] established under Part 3 of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act.*  OR  Option 2:  **Board** – the Mackenzie Valley Land and Water Board established under subsection 99(1) of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act*. | | | |
| **Closure Cost Estimate** - an estimate of the cost to close and reclaim the Project. | | | |
| **Closure Criteria** - standards that measure the success of selected closure activities in meeting closure objectives. Closure criteria may have a temporal component (e.g., a standard may need to be met for a pre-defined number of years). Closure criteria can be site-specific or adopted from territorial/federal or other standards and can be narrative statements or numerical values. | | | |
| **Closure Objectives** - statements that describe what the selected closure activities are aiming to achieve; they are guided by the closure principles. Closure objectives are typically specific to project components, are measurable and achievable, and allow for the development of closure criteria. | | | |
| **Closure and Reclamation –** the process and activities that facilitate the return of areas affected by the Project to viable and, wherever practicable, self-sustaining ecosystems that are compatible with a healthy environment and human activities. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Closure and Reclamation Plan (CRP)** – a document, developed in accordance with this Licence and the MVLWB/AANDC *Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*, that clearly describes the Closure and Reclamation for the Project.  OR  Option 2:  **Closure and Reclamation Plan (CRP)** – a document, developed in accordance with this Licence, that clearly describes the Closure and Reclamation for the Project. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Component-Specific Closure and Reclamation Plan (Component-Specific CRP)** – a document, developed in accordance with this Licence and the MVLWB/AANDC *Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*, that clearly describes the Closure and Reclamation for a component of the Project.  OR  Option 2:  **Component-Specific Closure and Reclamation Plan (Component-Specific CRP)** – a document, developed in accordance with this Licence, that clearly describes the Closure and Reclamation for a component of the Project. | | | |
| **Construction** – any activities undertaken during any phase of the Project to construct, build, upgrade, or replace any structures, facilities, or components of, or associated with, the Project. | | | |
| **Dam** – a structure that meets the definition of a Dam as per the *Dam Safety Guidelines* and is intended to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Waste. | | | |
| **Dam Class** – the category of dam based on its failure consequences, as described in the *Dam Safety Guidelines.* | | | |
| **Dam Safety Guidelines** – the Canadian Dam Association(CDA) *Dam Safety Guidelines,* including the CDA *Dam Safety Guidelines Technical Bulletins*. | | | |
| **Deposit of Waste** – a deposit of Waste in any Water or in any other place under conditions in which the Waste, or any other Waste that results from the deposit of that Waste, may enter any Waters. | | | |
| **Dewatering** – the complete removal of Water from an existing Watercourse, or portion thereof, by pumping or draining. | | | |
| **Discharge** – a direct or indirect deposit or release of any Water or Wastewater to Water to the Receiving Environment. | | | |
| **Drilling Fluid** – any liquid or liquid mixture, including, but not limited to clay, Water, sediment, hydrocarbons, or additives, that is pumped down-hole while drilling. | | | |
| **Drilling Waste** – Waste material specifically produced from drilling activity. | | | |
| **Effluent –** a Wastewater Discharge. | | | |
| **Effluent Quality Criteria (EQC) –** numerical or narrative limits on the quality or quantity of the Effluent authorized for deposit to Receiving Water. | | | |
| **Engagement Plan** – a document, developed in accordance with the LWB *Engagement and Consultation Policy* and the *Engagement Guidelines for Applicants and Holders of Water Licences and Land Use Permits*, that clearly describes how, when, and which engagement activities will occur with an affected party during the life of the Project. | | | |
| **Engineer of Record** - a qualified Professional Engineer who is responsible for the design and performance of the [enter name of Tailings Containment Facility or name of Dam(s)]. | | | |
| **Engineered Structure** – any structure or facility related to Water Use or the disposal or Deposit of Waste that is designed by a Professional Engineer, including but not limited to the [enter list of structures/facilities] associated with the Project. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Environmental Assessment (EA) –** Environmental Assessment [enter number], conducted by the Mackenzie Valley Environmental Impact Review Board for the Project.  OR  Option 2:  **Environmental Assessment (EA) –** the [enter year] Environmental Impact Assessment of the [enter name of Project as listed on CEAA registry] Project conducted as per the *Environmental Assessment and Review Process Guidelines Order*. | | | |
| **Environmental Impact Review (EIR)** – Environmental Impact Review [enter number], conducted by the Mackenzie Valley Environmental Impact Review Board for the Project. | | | |
| **Fracturing Fluid** – the fluid used to perform a hydraulic fracturing treatment, including the applicable base fluid and all additives. | | | |
| **Freeboard** – the vertical distance between the still Water or Wastewater line and the lowest elevation of the effective Water or Wastewater containment crest on the upstream slope of a containment structure. | | | |
| **Flowback –** the flow of Fracturing Fluid back to the wellbore after fracture treatment is completed. | | | |
| **Greywater** – all liquid Waste from showers, baths, sinks, kitchens, and domestic washing facilities, but does not include Toilet Waste. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Groundwater** – as defined in section 1 of the Waters Regulations: all water in a zone of saturation below the land surface, regardless of its origin.  OR  Option 2:  **Groundwater** – as defined in section 2 of the Mackenzie Valley Federal Areas Waters Regulations: all water in a zone of saturation below the land surface, regardless of its origin. | | | |
| **Hazardous Waste -** a Waste which, because of its quantity, concentration, or characteristics, may be harmful to human health or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, or disposed of. | | | |
| **Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facilities** – the area(s) andEngineered Structures designated to contain and treat hydrocarbon-contaminated sediments and soil. | | | |
| **Independent Tailings Review Panel** – a group of experts not previously involved in or responsible for the design, operation, or Construction of a facility, as established pursuant to this Licence. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Inspector** – an Inspector designated by the Minister under subsection 65(1) of the *Waters Act*.  OR  Option 2:  **Inspector** – an Inspector designated by the Minister under subsection 84(1) of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act*. | | | |
| **Licensee** – the holder of this Licence. | | | |
| **Mackenzie Valley Federal Areas Waters Regulations –** the regulations proclaimed pursuant to section 90.3 of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act*. | | | |
| **Maximum Average Concentration –** the concentration of a parameter that cannot be exceeded by the running average of any four consecutive analytical results. | | | |
| **Maximum Grab Concentration –** the concentration of a parameter that cannot be exceeded in any one analytical result. | | | |
| **Metal Leaching** – the release of metals and metalloids in leachate, Seepage, or drainage from rock or other materials associated with the Project. | | | |
| **Minewater** – Groundwater, surface Water, or any Water that is pumped, seeps, or flows out of any underground mine working or open pit. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Minister** – the Minister of the Government of the Northwest Territories (GNWT) – Environment and Natural Resources.  OR  Option 2:  **Minister** – the Minister of Northern Affairs. | | | |
| **Ordinary High-Water Mark** – the usual or average level to which a Watercourse rises at its highest point and remains for sufficient time so as to change the characteristics of the land. In flowing Watercourses (rivers, streams), this refers to an active channel/bank-full level, which is often the 1:2-year flood flow return level. In inland lakes, wetlands or marine environments, it refers to those parts of the Watercourse bed and banks that are frequently flooded by Water so as to leave a mark on the land and where the natural vegetation changes from predominantly aquatic vegetation to terrestrial vegetation (excepting Water tolerant species). For reservoirs, this refers to normal high operating levels (full supply level). | | | |
| **Potentially Acid Generating Rock** – any rock that has the potential to produce Acid Rock Drainage. | | | |
| **Processed Kimberlite** – the material rejected from the process plant after the recoverable materials have been extracted. | | | |
| **Professional Engineer** – a person registered with the Northwest Territories and Nunavut Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists to practice as a Professional Engineer in the Northwest Territories as per the territorial *Engineering and Geoscience Professions Act* and whose professional field of specialization is appropriate to address the components of the Project at hand. | | | |
| **Professional Geoscientist** – a person registered with the Northwest Territories and Nunavut Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists to practice as a Professional Geoscientist in the Northwest Territories as per the territorial *Engineering and Geoscience Professions Act* and whose professional field of specialization is appropriate to address the components of the Project at hand. | | | |
| **Progressive Reclamation** – Closure and Reclamation activities conducted during the operating phase of the Project. | | | |
| **Project** – the undertaking described in Part A, Conditions 1 and 2. | | | |
| **Receiving Environment** – the natural environment that, directly or indirectly, receives any Waste from the Project. | | | |
| **Receiving Water** – the Water in the Receiving Environment that receives any direct or indirect Deposit of Waste from the Project. | | | |
| **RECLAIM** – the [enter: Government of the Northwest Territories’ or Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs Canada’s] model for estimating Closure and Reclamation costs. | | | |
| **Reclamation Research –** literature reviews, laboratory or pilot-scale tests, engineering studies, and other methods of resolving uncertainties and answering questions pertaining to environmental risks for the purpose of providing data and information that will reduce uncertainties for closure options, selected closure activities, and/or closure criteria. | | | |
| **Remediation** – the removal, reduction, or neutralization of substances, Wastes, or hazardous materials from a site in order to prevent or minimize any adverse effects on the environment and public safety, now or in the future. | | | |
| **Response Framework** – a systematic approach to responding to the results of a monitoring program through adaptive management actions. | | | |
| **Response Plan –** a document describing the actions that will be taken by the Licensee in response to an Action Level exceedance. | | | |
| **Runoff** – the overland flow of Water or Wastewater that occurs when precipitation, meltwater, or other Water is not absorbed by the land. | | | |
| **Seepage –** any Water or Waste that drains, passes through, or escapes from any structure designed to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Waste. | | | |
| **Settling Pond** – any above or below-grade natural or human-made depression designated for separating solids from Water or Wastewater. | | | |
| **Sewage –** all Toilet Wastes and Greywater. | | | |
| **Sewage Disposal Facilities –** the area(s) and structures designated to contain and treat Sewage. | | | |
| **Sludge Management Plan** – a document, developed in accordance with the LWB/IWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Municipal Sludge Management for Passage Sewage Treatment Systems in the Northwest Territories*, that describes sludge management and re-use/disposal for the Project. | | | |
| **Solid Waste Disposal Facilities –** the area(s) and structures designated to contain solid Waste. | | | |
| **Spill Contingency Plan (SCP) –** a document developed for the Project in accordance with INAC’s *Guidelines for Spill Contingency Planning.* | | | |
| **Sump –** a human-made excavation or a natural depression designated for depositing Water and/or Waste. | | | |
| **Surveillance Network Program (SNP) –** a monitoring program required by this Licence and detailed in Schedule 1. | | | |
| **Tailings –** the materials rejected from the processing facilities after the recoverable valuable minerals have been extracted. | | | |
| **Tailings Containment Facilities** – the area(s) and Engineered Structures designated to contain Tailings. | | | |
| **Temporary Closure** – a state of care and maintenance, with the intent of resuming Project activities in the near future. | | | |
| **Toilet Wastes** – all human excreta and associated products, not including Greywater. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Traditional Knowledge** – the cumulative, collective body of knowledge, experience and values built up by a group of people through generations of living in close contact with nature. It builds upon the historic experiences of a people and adapts to social, economic, environmental, spiritual, and political change.  OR  Option 2:  **Gwich’in Traditional Knowledge** – that body of knowledge, values, beliefs and practices passed from one generation to another by oral means or through learned experience, observation and spiritual teachings, and pertains to the identity, culture and heritage of the Gwich’in. This body of knowledge reflects many millennia of living on the land. It is a system of classification, a set of empirical observations about the local environment, and a system of self-management that governs the use of resources and defines the relationship of living beings with one another and with their environment. | | | |
| **Unauthorized Release** – a release to the Receiving Environment of any Water or Waste not authorized under this Licence. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Waste –** as defined in section 1 of the *Waters Act:*   1. a substance that, if added to water, would degrade or alter or form part of a process of degradation or alteration of the quality of the water to an extent that is detrimental to its use by people or by an animal, fish or plant, or 2. water that contains a substance in such a quantity or concentration, or that has been so treated, processed or changed, by heat or other means, that it would, if added to other water, degrade or alter or form part of a process of degradation or alteration of the quality of that water to the extent described in paragraph (a),   and includes   1. a substance or water that, for the purposes of the *Canada Water Act*, is deemed to be waste, 2. a substance or class of substances prescribed by regulations made under subparagraph 63(1)(b)(i), 3. water that contains a substance or class of substances in a quantity or concentration that is equal to or greater than a quantity or concentration prescribed in respect of that substance or class of substances by regulations made under subparagraph 63(1)(b)(ii), and 4. water that has been subjected to a treatment, process or change prescribed by regulations made under subparagraph 63(1)(b)(iii)*.*   OR  Option 2:  **Waste** – as defined in section 51 of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act*:  any substance that would, to an extent that is detrimental to its use by people or by any animal, fish or plant, degrade or alter or form part of a process of degradation or alteration of the quality of any water to which it is added. Alternatively, it means any water that contains a substance in such a quantity or concentration or that has been so treated, processed or changed, by heat or other means, that it would, if added to any other water, degrade or alter or form part of a process of degradation or alteration of the quality of that other water to which it is added. It includes:   1. any substance or water that is deemed, under subsection 2(2) of the *Canada Water Act*, to be waste; 2. any substance or class of substances prescribed by regulations made under subparagraph 90.3(1)(b)(i); 3. water that contains any substance or class of substances in a quantity or concentration that is equal to or greater than a quantity or concentration prescribed 4. in respect of that substance or class of substances by regulations made under subparagraph 90.3(1)(b)(ii); and 5. water that has been subjected to a treatment, process or change prescribed by regulations made under subparagraph 90.3(1)(b)(iii). | | | |
| **Waste Disposal Facilities** – the area(s) and structures designated for the disposal of Waste, including, but not limited to, the [enter as relevant: Sewage Disposal Facilities, Solid Waste Disposal Facilities, Hydrocarbon- Contaminated Soil Treatment Facility]. | | | |
| **Waste Management Plan (WMP)** – a document, developed in accordance with the MVLWB *Guidelines for Developing a Waste Management Plan,* that describes the methods of Waste management for the Project from Waste generation to final disposal. | | | |
| **Waste Rock** – all rock materials, except ore and [enter: Tailings or Processed Kimberlite], which are produced as a result of mining and milling operations. | | | |
| **Waste Rock Storage Facilities** – the area(s) and Engineered Structures designated for the disposal of Waste Rock [include if applicable: overburden, and/or till]. | | | |
| **Wastewater** – any Water that is generated by Project activities or originates on-site, and which contains Waste, and may include, but is not limited to, Runoff, Seepage, Sewage, Minewater, and Effluent. | | | |
| **Wastewater Management Pond(s) –** the area(s) and structures designated to collect and store Wastewater. | | | |
| **Wastewater Treatment Facilities –** the area(s) and structures designated for the treatment of Wastewater. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Water** – as defined in section 1 of the *Waters Act*: water under the administration and control of the Commissioner, whether in a liquid or frozen state, on or below the surface of land.  OR  Option 2:  **Water** – as defined in section 51 of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act*: any inland waters, whether in a liquid or frozen state, on or below the surface of land. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Watercourse** – as defined in section 1 of the Waters Regulations: a natural watercourse, body of Water or Water supply, whether usually containing Water or not, and includes, but is not limited to, Groundwater, springs, swamps, and gulches.  Option 2:  **Watercourse** – as defined in section 2 of the Mackenzie Valley Federal Areas Waters Regulations: a natural watercourse, body of Water or Water supply, whether usually containing Water or not, and includes, but is not limited to, Groundwater, springs, swamps, and gulches. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Water Management Area –** a geographical area of the Northwest Territories established by section 2 and Schedule A of the Waters Regulations.  OR  Option 1:  **Water Management Area** – a geographical area of the Northwest Territories established by section 3 and Schedule 1 of the Mackenzie Valley Federal Areas Waters Regulations. | | | |
| **Waters Regulations** – the regulations proclaimed pursuant to section 63 of the *Waters Act*. | | | |
| **Water Supply Facilities** – the area(s) and structures designed to collect, [treat], and supply Water for the Project. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Water Use** – as defined in section 1 of the *Waters Act*: a direct or indirect use of any kind, including, but not limited to,   1. a diversion or obstruction of waters, 2. an alteration of the flow of waters, and 3. an alteration of the bed or banks of a river, stream, lake or other body of water, whether or not the body of water is seasonal,   but does not include a use connected with shipping activities that are governed by the *Canada Shipping Act*, 2001.  OR  Option 2:  **Water Use** – as defined in section 51 of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act:* a direct or indirect use of any kind other than a use connected with shipping activities that are governed by the *Canada Shipping Act,*  *2001*, including   1. any diversion or obstruction of waters; 2. any alteration of the flow of waters; and 3. any alteration of the bed or banks of a river, stream, lake or other body of water, whether or not the body of water is seasonal. | | | |
| Option 1:  **Water Use Fee** – the fee for use of Water as per the Waters Regulations pursuant to section 63 of the *Waters Act* and the LWB *Water Use Fee Policy*.  OR  Option 2:  **Water Use Fee** – the fee for use of Water as per the Mackenzie Valley Federal Areas Waters Regulations pursuant to section 90.3 of the *Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act* and the LWB *Water Use Fee Policy*. | | | |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
|  | Part B: General Conditions |  |  |
|  | **Condition** | **Condition Title** | **Rationale** |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure a copy of this Licence is maintained on site at all times. | **COPY OF LICENCE** | The intent of this Condition is to inform the Licensee that copies of the current Licence must be available to facilitate immediate reference.  The form of the licence copy is at the discretion of the Inspector. |
|  | The Licensee shall take every reasonable precaution to protect the environment. | **PRECAUTION TO PROTECT ENVIRONMENT** | This Condition provides a general goal for the Licensee throughout the life of the Project. |
|  | In conducting its activities under this Licence, the Licensee shall make every reasonable effort to consider and incorporate any scientific information and Traditional Knowledge that is made available to the Licensee. | **INCORPORATE SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION AND TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE** | This Condition informs the Licensee that incorporation of scientific information and Traditional Knowledge is required throughout the life of the Project. |
|  | In each submission required by this Licence or by any directive from the Board, the Licensee shall identify all recommendations based on Traditional Knowledge received, describe how the recommendations were incorporated into the submission, and provide justification for any recommendation not adopted. | **IDENTIFY TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE** | This Condition requires the Licensee to demonstrate how the Traditional Knowledge component of the INCORPORATE SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION AND TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE Condition is being met. |
|  | All references to policies, guidelines, codes of practice, statutes, regulations, or other authorities shall be read as a reference to the most recent versions, unless otherwise noted. | **REFERENCES** | Documents referenced within the Licence conditions may be revised over the life of the Licence. This Condition clarifies that the most recent versions of references should be used, unless otherwise noted. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure all submissions to the Board:   1. Are in accordance with the LWB *Document Submission Standards* and, if applicable, *Geospatial Data Submissions Standards*; and 2. Include any additional information requested by the Board. | **SUBMISSION FORMAT** | The intent of this Condition is to set out the Board’s expectations for submissions, and to improve the consistency and efficiency of the submission and review process.  Additional details are available in the LWB [*Document Submission Standards*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/2023-02/LWB%20Document%20Submission%20Standards%20-%20Final%20-%20Feb%202023_1.pdf)and *Geospatial Data Submissions Standards.*  Item (b) allows the Board to request additional information in relation to any submission in order to inform Board decisions related to the Licence. The Board will provide rationale for requesting additional information in a submission. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure management plans are submitted to the Board in a format consistent with the LWB *Standard Outline for Management Plans*, unless otherwise specified*.* | **MANAGEMENT PLAN FORMAT** | The intent of this Condition is to assist Licensees in preparing management plans in a consistent way for all types of projects and to allow reviewers to more easily locate specific information. This will facilitate a more efficient public review and decision process.  Additional details are available in the LWB [*Standard Outline for Management Plans*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/2021-06/LWB%20Standard%20Outline%20for%20Management%20Plans%20-%20Approved%20-%20Jun%2010_21_0.pdf)*.*  This Condition does not apply to submissions that must be in accordance with specific guidelines as set out in the Licence definitions or conditions. |
|  | The Licensee shall comply with all [enter applicable document types used in the Licence: plans, programs, manuals, studies], including revisions, approved pursuant to the conditions of this Licence. | **COMPLY WITH SUBMISSIONS AND REVISIONS** | The intent of this Condition is to direct the Licensee to comply with the most-recently approved plans, programs, studies, and manuals. |
|  | The Licensee shall conduct an annual review of all [enter applicable document types included in the conditions of this Licence: plans, programs, manuals, studies] and make any revisions necessary to reflect changes in operations, contact information, or other details. No later than [insert date] each year, the Licensee shall send a notification letter to the Board, listing the documents that have been reviewed and do not require revisions. | **ANNUAL REVIEW** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure that the Licensee regularly reviews the Project’s management plans, programs, and manuals to ensure they are up to date. If revisions are required, revised documents should be submitted in accordance with the REVISIONS Condition. If no revisions are required, the Licensee must submit a simple notification to the Board, indicating which documents have been reviewed and do not require revisions. This notification will be posted on the Board’s public registry, so that reviewers and the Inspectors are aware that the documents have been reviewed and remain current.  The submission date will match the submission date for the Water Licence Annual Report. |
|  | The Licensee may propose changes at any time by submitting revised [enter document types included in the conditions of this Licence: plans, programs, manuals, or studies that require Board approval] to the Board, for approval, a minimum of 90 days prior to the proposed implementation date for the changes. The Licensee shall not implement the changes until approved by the Board. | **REVISIONS** | The intent of this Condition is to clarify the process for revising submissions, and to highlight that revisions must be approved by the Board before changes are implemented. This Condition applies to all types of submissions that require Board approval (e.g., design and construction plans, water and wastewater management plans, O&M plans, monitoring plans, etc.).  Ninety days is the typical timeline for the public review and Board decision process; however, Licensees are encouraged to submit proposed revisions earlier. |
|  | The Licensee shall revise any submission and submit it as per the Board’s directive. | **REVISE AND SUBMIT** | A Board directive to revise a submission may be part of the Board’s decision on the submission or may be initiated in response to other information made available to the Board (e.g., an inspection report or revisions to a related submission). The REVISIONS Condition above will apply. |
|  | If any date for any submission falls on a weekend or holiday, the Licensee may submit the item on the following business day. | **SUBMISSION DATE** | The intent of this Condition is to clarify submission deadlines in relation to holidays and weekends. |
|  | The Licensee shall comply with the **Schedules**, which form part of this Licence, and any updates to the Schedules as may be made by the Board. | **COMPLY WITH SCHEDULE(S)** | The intent of this Condition is to inform the Licensee of the requirement to comply with the Schedules. |
|  | The Licensee shall comply with the **Surveillance Network Program** set out in Schedule 1, and any updates to the Surveillance Network Program as may be made by the Board. | **COMPLY WITH SURVEILLANCE NETWORK PROGRAM** | In intent of this Condition is to inform the Licensee of the requirement to comply with the SNP, which details the sampling and monitoring requirements related to compliance with Licence conditions. The SNP requirements are detailed in the associated [Schedule](#_Part_J:_Other). |
|  | The Licensee shall comply with the Annexes, which form part of this Licence. | **COMPLY WITH ANNEX(ES)** | The intent of this Condition is to inform the Licensee of the requirement to comply with any Annexes in the Licence.  Proposed changes to an Annex will require an amendment proceeding. |
|  | The Schedules, the Surveillance Network Program, and any compliance dates specified in this Licence may be updated at the discretion of the Board. | **UPDATES TO SCHEDULES AND COMPLIANCE DATE(S)** | The intent of this Condition is to inform the Licensee that the Board has the authority to make changes to compliance dates (e.g., submission due date in a Licence condition) and Schedules (including the SNP).  The Licensee may submit written requests for such changes to the Board for approval. Requests for changes to compliance dates shall be submitted to the Board in advance of the compliance date to allow sufficient time for review and Board decision. |
|  | The Licensee shall comply with all directives issued by the Board in respect of the implementation of the conditions of this Licence. | **COMPLY WITH BOARD DIRECTIVES** | The intent of this Condition is to inform the Licensee of the requirement to comply with Board directives regarding the Licence conditions. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure signs are posted for all active Surveillance Network Program stations. All sign(s) shall be located and maintained to the satisfaction of an Inspector. | **POST SURVEILLANCE NETWORK PROGRAM SIGN(S)** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure consistency in sampling locations, and to allow the Inspector to easily locate sampling stations. Posting signs may also prevent disturbance of the sampling site(s).  SNP stations on watercourses are often marked by buoys. |
|  | The Licensee shall install, operate, and maintain meters, devices, or other such methods for measuring the volumes of Water used and Waste disposed of to the satisfaction of an Inspector. | **MEASURE WATER USE AND WASTE DISCHARGED** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee has set up proper equipment to measure Water Use and Waste disposal. This will ensure accurate volumes are recorded and reported in the Annual Water Licence Report. |
|  | Beginning [enter date, including the year] and no later than every [enter date] thereafter, the Licensee shall submit an **Annual Water Licence Report** to the Board and an Inspector**.** The Report shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition x. | **ANNUAL WATER LICENCE REPORT** | The purpose of the Annual Water Licence Report is to provide the Board and all parties an update on Project components and activities, and to provide a platform for parties to submit comments, observations, feedback, and questions as necessary. The Report is also an important tool for evaluating the effectiveness of the Licence conditions.  The reporting year and specific information requirements are set out in the associated [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Annual). The requirements are intended to provide clarity and summarize information; they are not meant to be onerous. These requirements are organized to coincide with the layout of the Licence. |
|  | The Licensee shall comply with the **Engagement Plan**, once approved. | **ENGAGEMENT PLAN** | This Condition reflects the requirements of the LWB [*Engagement Guidelines for Applicants and Holders of Water Licences and Land Use Permits* and *Engagement and Consultation Policy*.](https://wlwb.ca/sites/default/files/2023-01/LWB%20Engagement%20and%20Consultation%20Policy%20-%20Dec_22.pdf?_gl=1*1qucuhz*_ga*NzI5NzI5OTQ3LjE2NjA1ODc0NDA.*_ga_1YN4RQ50MS*MTY3NTQ0Nzk0NC4xNjguMS4xNjc1NDQ3OTk0LjAuMC4w*_ga_DM4CTC801Y*MTY3NTQ0Nzk0NC4xNjcuMS4xNjc1NDQ3OTk0LjAuMC4w*_ga_WH73GNZLKK*MTY3NTQ0Nzk0NC4xNjcuMS4xNjc1NDQ3OTk0LjAuMC4w*_ga_FFVRERZXBW*MTY3NTQ0Nzk0NC4xNjcuMS4xNjc1NDQ3OTk0LjAuMC4w)  An Engagement Plan is required as part of a complete application and will be considered by the Board at the time the Licence is issued. The Board’s decision on the Plan will be communicated in its issuance decision letter. |
|  | Option 1:  Within 90 days following the effective date of this Licence, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised Engagement Plan. The Licensee shall not commence Project activities prior to Board approval of the Plan.  OR  Option 2:  A minimum of 90 days prior to commencement of activities, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised Engagement Plan. The Licensee shall not commence Project activities prior to Board approval of the Plan. | **ENGAGEMENT PLAN – REVISED** | This Condition requires submission of a revised Engagement Plan if the Plan is not approved when the Licence is issued.  The submission deadline for the Plan will depend on the Project schedule and the activities described in the Plan. |
|  | A minimum of ten days prior to the initial commencement of Project activities, the Licensee shall provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector. Notification shall include the commencement date, and the name and contact information for the individual responsible for overseeing the Project. Written notification shall be provided to the Board and an Inspector if any changes occur. | **NOTIFICATION – COMMENCEMENT** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee notifies the Board and Inspector prior to the initial commencement of Project activities. Contact information is required as part of this notification, because on-site contractors are often hired following issuance. This initial contact is important to establish lines of regular communication between the Licensee, Inspector, and Board, and to facilitate site inspections. Changes to the commencement date and/or contact information are required in writing.  Note that commencement means any activities associated with the Project to accomplish the activities specified in [Part A: Scope](#_Scope:_2). This includes activities below the thresholds for a licence. |
|  | A minimum of ten days prior to re-commencement of Project activities following a temporary shut-down period, the Licensee shall provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector. Notification shall include the commencement date, and the name and contact information for the individual responsible for overseeing the Project. Written notification shall be provided to the Board and an Inspector if any changes occur. | **NOTIFICATION – RE-COMMENCEMENT** | This Condition may be included in addition to the NOTIFICATION - COMMENCEMENT Condition for projects with seasonal or other temporary shut-down periods. This notification is important for facilitating site inspections. |
|  | The Licensee shall immediately provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector of any non-compliance with the conditions of this Licence. | **NOTIFICATION – NON-COMPLIANCE WITH CONDITIONS** | The intent of this Condition is to assist the Board, Inspectors, and reviewers in tracking compliance.  Written notification can be provided by letter or email. |
|  | The Licensee shall immediately provide written notification to the Board of any non-compliance with a Board directive issued in respect of the implementation of the conditions of this Licence. | **NOTIFICATION – NON-COMPLIANCE WITH DIRECTIVES** | The intent of this Condition is to assist the Board, Inspectors, and reviewers in tracking compliance.  Written notification can be provided by letter or email. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that a copy of any written authorization issued to the Licensee by an Inspector is provided to the Board. | **COPY – WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION** | There are several conditions that require the Licensee to obtain written authorization from an Inspector in order to satisfy the condition. The intent of this Condition is to promote transparency and maintain a complete public record for the Project. |
|  | The Licensee shall submit a current Project schedule to the Board and an Inspector upon request. | **SUBMIT CURRENT PROJECT SCHEDULE** | This Condition is intended for Projects that are not expected to start immediately following Licence issuance. |
|  | Part C: Security |  |  |
|  | *Intentionally left blank.* |  | For clarity and consistent sequencing in licences, this row will be included if there are no conditions in this section. This row will be removed entirely if there are conditions in this section. |
|  | The Licensee shall post and maintain a security deposit with the Minister in accordance with Schedule X. The Licensee shall not commence activities until the security deposit has been accepted by the Minister. | **POST SECURITY DEPOSIT** | The Board’s authority to require Licensees to post and maintain security with the Minister is granted under paragraph 60(1.1)(e) of the [*Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act*](https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/PDF/M-0.2.pdf) (federal areas) and subsection 35 (1) of the [*Waters Act*](https://www.justice.gov.nt.ca/en/files/legislation/waters/waters.a.pdf) (non-federal areas). Once posted, the security must be maintained until it is refunded.  Security deposit amounts are set out in the associated [Schedule](#_Schedule_H:_Conditions) to allow the Board to review and adjust the security as necessary to reflect updates to the closure cost estimate (see the ADJUSTED SECURITY AMOUNT Condition).  Note that the Board does not have the authority to include requirements in the Licence for posting security with other landowners; however, other landowners may require security under other authorizations. If security for a Project is required and held by a landowner other than the Minister, the Board will consider this in determining the amount of security required under the Licence.  The Board determines the amount of the security deposit during licensing based on the estimated costs of closing and reclaiming the site (i.e., the Closure Cost Estimate). The Closure Cost Estimate is most often developed based on the Closure and Reclamation Plan for the Project.  Guidance on developing Closure Cost Estimates is provided in the LWB/GNWT/INAC [*Guidelines for Closure and Reclamation Cost Estimates for Mines*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/images/Closure%20Cost%20Estimating%20Guidelines_FINAL_Nov%2024%202017.pdf)*.* Although these Guidelines were developed for mining projects, the information provided can be applied to all types of projects. |
|  | Upon request of the Board, the Licensee shall submit an updated Closure Cost Estimate using the current version of RECLAIM or another method acceptable to the Board. | **UPDATE CLOSURE COST ESTIMATE** | Over the life of the Project, the Closure and Reclamation Plan will be refined, and progressive reclamation may be conducted.  The Board may request an updated Closure Cost Estimate at any time. Section 3.2 (Adjusting Security During the Term of a Licence) of the LWB/GNWT/INAC [*Guidelines for Closure and Reclamation Cost Estimates for Mines*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/images/Closure%20Cost%20Estimating%20Guidelines_FINAL_Nov%2024%202017.pdf) provides more information about security adjustments. |
|  | The amount of the security deposit required by Part C, Condition 1 (POST SECURITY DEPOSIT) may be adjusted by the Board:   1. Based on an updated Closure Cost Estimate as per Part C, Condition 2 (UPDATE CLOSURE COST ESTIMATE); or 2. Based on such other information as may become available to the Board. | **ADJUSTED SECURITY AMOUNT** | The security deposit amount is based on the Closure Cost Estimate. The intent of this Condition is to allow the Board to review and revise the security deposit amount when the Closure Cost Estimate is revised. |
|  | If the amount of the security deposit is adjusted by the Board as per Part C, Condition 3 (ADJUSTED SECURITY AMOUNT), the Licensee shall post the adjusted amount with the Minister within the timeframe set by the Board. The Licensee shall not commence any new activities associated with a security adjustment until the additional security deposit has been accepted by the Minister. | **POST ADJUSTED SECURITY AMOUNT** | The timeline for posting additional security will be set out by the Board in its directive on the security deposit adjustment. |
|  | Unless otherwise approved by the Board, the Licensee may not submit security adjustment requests except with any of the following submissions:   1. Closure and Reclamation Plans; 2. Closure and Reclamation Completion Reports; or 3. Performance Assessment Reports. | **SECURITY ADJUSTMENT REQUESTS** | The intent of this Condition is to link security adjustment requests to completed Progressive Reclamation or changes to an updated Closure and Reclamation Plan. This Condition reduces the number of security adjustment requests that must be considered by reviewers and the Board.  The Closure and Reclamation Plan for the Project must be updated every three years (see CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION PLAN – REVISED), which provides a regular periodic opportunity for the Licensee to update the Closure Cost Estimate and request any consequent security adjustments.  Note that this Condition includes Component-Specific Closure and Reclamation Plan submissions. |
|  | Part D: Water Use |  |  |
|  | *Intentionally left blank.* |  | For clarity and consistent sequencing in licences, this row will be included if there are no conditions in this section. This row will be removed entirely if there are conditions in this section. |
|  | Option 1:  The Licensee shall only obtain [if needed, enter: fresh or raw] Water for the Project from the [enter Water source]. The Licensee may withdraw up to [enter quantity of Water Use (m3/unit of time e.g., day/year)] of Water from this source.  OR  Option 2:  The Licence shall only obtain [if needed, enter: fresh or raw] Water for the Project as set out in the following table.   |  |  |  |  |  | | --- | --- | --- | --- | --- | | **Water Source Name** | **Location and Coordinates** | **Type of Watercourse**  **(e.g., river, lake, etc.)** | **Purpose of Water Use** | **Maximum Quantity**  **(m3 per day or year)** | |  |  |  |  |  | |  |  |  |  |  | |  |  |  |  |  |   OR  Option 3:  The Licensee shall only obtain [if needed, enter: fresh or raw] Water for the Project from the Water sources listed in Annex A. The Licensee may withdraw up to a combined total [enter quantity of Water Use (m3/unit of time e.g., day/year)] of Water from these sources.  OR  Option 4:  The Licensee shall only obtain [if needed, enter: fresh or raw] Water for the Project from the [enter Water source]. The Licensee may only withdraw up to combined total of [enter quantity of Water Use (m3/unit of time e.g., day/year)] of Water for the Project, as defined in this Licence, and the project defined in Water Licence [enter file number]. | **WATER SOURCE AND MAXIMUM VOLUME** | Water sources, total Water Use, and Water Use from each source must be identified in a Water licence application.  The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee only takes Water from approved Water sources, and to ensure the Licensee does not exceed the maximum authorized Water withdrawal volume for each Water source, or from all sources combined.  Options 2 and 3 are intended for projects with several Water sources with specific limits, or many potential Water sources with a combined water use limit, respectively.  Option 3 will typically be used in conjunction with the MINIMUM WATER SOURCE DEPTH and WATER SOURCE DEPTH – VERIFICATION Conditions unless the depths of all Water sources are known.  The fourth option is only intended for split-interest projects.  Regardless of where the authorized Water sources are listed (i.e., in this Condition or in an Annex), proposed changes to Water sources require an amendment process.  If the Project includes winter Water withdrawal, the MAXIMUM UNDER-ICE WATER WITHDRAWAL VOLUME will also be included, and the Licensee should be aware that the maximum volume that can be withdrawn during under-ice conditions may be lower.  Note that this Condition addresses the use of Water directly from Watercourses, not from recycling or repurposing of Wastewater. Wastewater sources for recycling Water within the Project will be considered through the Water and Wastewater Management Plan and/or the WASTEWATER USE Condition. |
|  | The Licensee shall only withdraw Water from authorized Water sources with a minimum depth of three metres, verified in accordance with Part D, Condition X (WATER SOURCE DEPTH VERIFICATION). | **LENTIC WATER SOURCE – MINIMUM DEPTH** | This Condition is intended to protect aquatic habitat during Water withdrawal in under-ice conditions. It is consistent with the Water source depth criteria set out in the LWB/GNWT [*Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/2021-04/LWB%20Method%20for%20Determining%20Winter%20Water%20Source%20Capacity%20for%20Small-Scale%20Developments%20%20-%20Apr%207_21.pdf)*,* as applicable.  This Condition is intended to be used when depth information is not available during the regulatory proceeding (e.g., numerous small Watercourses are proposed as potential winter Water sources), and depth must be verified prior to Water use. This Condition will not be included when Water source depth is known.  This Condition will typically be used in conjunction with the WATER SOURCE DEPTH VERIFICATION Condition. |
|  | Each year, prior to commencing Water withdrawal from any of the authorized Water sources identified in Part D, Condition X (WATER SOURCES AND MAXIMUM VOLUMES), the Licensee shall submit, to the Board and an Inspector, the results of depth verification for Water sources to be used in the coming year. Depth verification shall be in accordance with the LWB/GNWT *Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects*. The Licensee shall not commence withdrawal until the Inspector provides written confirmation. | **WATER SOURCE DEPTH VERIFICATION** | This Condition sets out the requirements for providing verification of the minimum depth of Water sources prior to commencing winter Water withdrawal.  This Condition is consistent with the expectations set out in the LWB/GNWT[*Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/2021-04/LWB%20Method%20for%20Determining%20Winter%20Water%20Source%20Capacity%20for%20Small-Scale%20Developments%20%20-%20Apr%207_21.pdf)*.*  In some cases, where there are only a few Water sources that require depth verification, this may only be required prior to initially commencing withdrawal. Where there are many authorized potential Water sources, and the Water sources used will vary from year to year (e.g., mineral exploration programs), the depth must be verified for the Water sources to be used for the coming year. |
|  | Option 1:  In any single ice-covered season, the Licensee shall not withdraw greater than 10% of the available Water volume of any approved Water source, as calculated using the appropriate maximum expected ice thickness and bathymetric data, or, where bathymetric data is not available, in accordance with the LWB/GNWT *Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects*.    OR  Option 2:  In any single ice-covered season, the Licensee shall not withdraw greater than the following quantity(ies):   |  |  | | --- | --- | | **Water Source(s)** | **Quantity**  **(m3)** | |  |  | |  |  | | **MAXIMUM UNDER-ICE WATER WITHDRAWAL VOLUME** | Water withdrawal under ice-covered conditions can affect aquatic habitat by depleting oxygen and reducing littoral habitat areas. The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee does not exceed the maximum withdrawal volume for each Water source during ice-covered periods. The Licensee should be aware that this volume may be less than what is authorized under the WATER SOURCE AND MAXIMUM VOLUME Condition.  The first option is intended to be used when Water source capacity information is not available during the regulatory proceeding, and the Licence authorizes potential Water sources whose depth and use capacity must be confirmed prior to winter Water use (e.g., after issuance, bathymetric data will be collected, or the capacity and depth will be calculated and verified, respectively, in accordance with the LWB/GNWT [*Method for Determining Available Winter Water Use Capacity for Small-Scale Projects*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/2021-04/LWB%20Method%20for%20Determining%20Winter%20Water%20Source%20Capacity%20for%20Small-Scale%20Developments%20%20-%20Apr%207_21.pdf)*,* as applicable).  The second option is intended to be used when Water source depth and use capacity has been established prior to issuance, either from bathymetric data or in accordance with the Method.  Where bathymetric data is or will be available, applicants and licensees should use the Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) [*Protocol for Winter Water Withdrawal from Ice-covered Waterbodies in the Northwest Territories and Nunavut*](http://registry.mvlwb.ca/Documents/W2010C0005/W2010C0005%20-%20Novus%20Gold%20-%20LUP%20Application%20-%20DFO%20Water%20Withdrawal%20Protocol%20-%20Aug%2025_10.pdf)***.***  This Condition is not intended to be used for lotic Water sources such as rivers and streams; project-specific conditions will usually be required for these types of Water sources. |
|  | The Licensee may use Wastewater from the [enter list Wastewater sources] for [enter Wastewater uses] only if that Wastewater meets the Effluent Quality Criteria established in Part F, Condition X (EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA) of this Licence, or as otherwise approved by the Board. | **WASTEWATER USE** | This Condition would be included if Wastewater is being recycled on-site for another use (e.g., mine water used for milling) and could enter the Receiving Water (directly or indirectly) as a result. The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Water from Wastewater sources meets EQC prior to being re-used. |
|  | The Licensee shall only withdraw Water using the Water Supply Facilities, unless otherwise authorized temporarily in writing by an Inspector. | **WATER WITHDRAWAL – FACILITIES** | The design and location of the Water Supply Facilities can affect aquatic habitat, the potential for erosion and scour, and the stability of the facilities. The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee takes Water using facilities that are reviewed and approved by the Board; however, the Inspector may authorize the temporary use of alternate facilities.  Note that this Condition does not allow the Inspector to authorize alternate Water sources or volumes. |
|  | Prior to withdrawing Water from an approved Water source, the Licensee shall post sign(s) to identify the intake for the Water Supply Facilities. All sign(s) shall be located and maintained to the satisfaction of an Inspector. | **POST WATER INTAKE SIGN(S)** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Water intake location is protected from accidental damage or contamination, and to inform Inspectors and/or the general public of the location. |
|  | The Licensee shall construct and maintain the Water intake(s) with a screen designed to prevent impingement or entrainment of fish. The screen shall be in accordance with the best practices outlined in Fisheries and Oceans Canada’s *Interim Code of Practice: End-of-Pipe Fish Protection Screens for Small Water Intakes in Freshwater* and *Fish Screen Design Criteria for Flood and Water Truck Pumps*. | **WATER INTAKE SCREEN** | The intent of this Condition is to minimize disruption of fish habitat near a Water intake. Guidance on best practices is available in the following Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) documents:  [*Interim code of practice: End-of-pipe fish protection screens for small water intakes in freshwater*](https://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/codes/screen-ecran-eng.html)  [*Fish Screen Design Criteria for Flood and Water Truck Pumps*](https://glwb.com/sites/default/files/mvlwb/documents/DFO%20Water%20Trucks%20and%20Flood%20Pump%20Fish%20Screen%20Guideline%20Dec%2012%202011.pdf) |
|  | Prior to locating a Water intake in a fish-bearing Watercourse, the Licensee shall obtain written authorization for the location from an Inspector. | **WATER INTAKE LOCATION – AUTHORIZATION** | This Condition will be included if the Water intake location is not identified during the licensing process. |
|  | Each year, prior to the [enter: the day and month of the effective date] and in advance of any Water use, the Licensee shall pay the Water Use Fee in accordance with the LWB *Water Use Fee Policy*. | **WATER USE FEE** | This intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee is aware of the annual Water Use Fee payment due date. The effective date of the Licence is identified on the cover page. |
|  | Part E: Construction |  |  |
|  |  |  | This Part is organized based on the time sequences for Construction. There are general conditions up front, and then time-sequenced conditions which follow.  Note that these conditions apply to any project with Construction, including remediation projects; however, not all of the conditions below will be applied to all projects. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that all structures intended to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Waste are designed, constructed, and maintained to minimize the escape of Waste to the Receiving Environment. | **OBJECTIVE – CONSTRUCTION** | The intent of this Condition is to protect Water quality in the environment, which reflects the guiding principles and objectives of the LWB [*Waste and Wastewater Management Policy*](https://mvlwb.com/resources/lwb-policies-and-guidelines). This reflects the overall intent of the requirements set out in this Part of the Licence. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that all structures intended to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Wastes, and which meet the definition of a Dam as per the *Dam Safety Guidelines* are designed, constructed, maintained, and monitored to meet or exceed the *Dam Safety Guidelines*. | **DAMS – GENERAL** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee builds, maintains, and monitors Dams in accordance with the *Dam Safety Guidelines*. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that all Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facilities are designed, constructed, maintained, monitored, and closed to meet or exceed the LWB/IWB/GNWT *Guideline for Design, Operation, Maintenance, and Closure of Petroleum Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facilities in the Northwest Territories*. | **HYDROCARBON-CONTAMINATED SOIL TREATMENT FACILITIES – GENERAL** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee builds, maintains, monitors, and closes Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facilities in accordance with the LWB/IWB/GNWT [*Guideline for Design, Operation, Maintenance, and Closure of Petroleum Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facilities in the Northwest Territories*](https://wlwb.ca/sites/default/files/guideline_for_petroleum_hydrocarbon_contaminated_soil_treatment_facilities_in_the_northwest_territories_-_final_-_jan_10_20.pdf)*.* This Condition will apply whether the Facilities are engineered or not. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that all Engineered Structures are constructed and maintained in accordance with the recommendations of the Professional Engineer responsible for the design, including, but not limited to, recommendations regarding field supervision and inspection requirements. | **ENGINEERED STRUCTURES – GENERAL** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee builds Engineered Structures to appropriate standards. This requirement is consistent with the guiding principles of the LWB [*Waste and Wastewater Management Policy*](https://mvlwb.com/resources/lwb-policies-and-guidelines)*,* and the expectations set out in the LWB [*Guidelines for Developing a Waste Management Plan*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/documents/MVLWB-Guidelines-for-Developing-a-Waste-Management-Plan-Mar-31_11-JCWG.pdf). |
|  | Option 1:  The Licensee shall ensure that all material used in Construction of the [enter: Project OR specific project component(s)] meets the geochemical criteria specified in the approved [enter name of management plan] referred to in Part F, Condition X.  OR  Option 2:  The Licensee shall ensure that only material that meets [enter geochemical criterion] is used for Construction, unless otherwise approved by the Board. | **CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL – GEOCHEMICAL CRITERIA** | This Condition is included when potentially-acid-generating (PAG) materials have been identified on-site, and the Licensee will be using geochemical criteria to classify acceptable materials for use in Construction. The criteria may be set out directly in this Licence Condition or in a relevant management plan. More than one version of this Condition may be needed to capture all geochemical criteria that apply for the Project. |
|  | The Licensee shall only use material that is clean and free of contaminants and that has been authorized in writing by an Inspector. | **CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL – SOURCE(S)** | This Condition may be included for small projects where no concerns about construction materials have been identified during the licencing process. This Condition would not be included when construction plans are required in the Licence.  If treated materials will be re-used for Construction, this Condition will not be included, and specific criteria must be set out in a management plan or project-specific condition.  Note that this Condition does not allow the Inspector to authorize quarrying locations. |
|  | The Licensee shall maintain records of Construction materials for all structures and make them available at the request of the Board or an Inspector. | **CONSTRUCTION RECORDS** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure a record of the source(s) of Construction materials is available. |
|  | The Licensee shall maintain geochemical records of Construction materials for [enter: all structures, OR list specific structures] and make them available at the request of the Board or an Inspector. | **GEOCHEMICAL RECORDS** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure geochemical records of Construction materials are available where necessary. In some cases, this may apply to all structures; however, in many cases, this requirement may only apply to specific structures, which will be listed in this Condition.  Geochemical testing and records are typically only required if potentially acid-generating (PAG) materials have been identified on-site, or if there is uncertainty about whether such materials are present on-site. |
|  | Unless otherwise authorized in writing by an Inspector, a minimum of 90 days prior to the commencement of Construction of all structures, excluding Engineered Structures, intended to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Wastes, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Structure Description and Construction Plan**. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition x. The Licensee shall not commence Construction of the structure(s) prior to Board approval of the Plan. | **STRUCTURE DESCRIPTION AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN** | This Condition requires the Licensee to submit descriptions and Construction plans for Water and Waste management structures that are not designed by a Professional Engineer but may still have potential effects on the Receiving Environment.  This Condition is intended to apply to all non-engineered Water and Waste management structures, unless otherwise authorized by the Inspector. For very small or temporary structures with low risk to the Receiving Environment, the Inspector may determine that a Structure Description and Construction Plan is not necessary. The Licensee is encouraged to discuss planned structures and associated risks with the Inspector in advance of submitting this Plan.  Detailed information requirements are set out in the [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions), which will always include a requirement for the Licensee to provide rationale for why the structure does not need to be engineered. Depending on the evidence gathered during the public review, the Board may determine that the structure should be engineered and direct the Licensee to submit a Design and Construction Plan (for an Engineered Structure).  If changes to a structure (including alterations, upgrades, repairs, and/or replacement) are proposed after the Structure Description and Construction Plan is approved and/or after the structure has been constructed, the Licensee must submit a revised Structure Description and Construction Plan to the Board, for approval, prior to implementing the proposed changes, as per the REVISIONS Condition. |
| 1. K | A minimum of 90 days prior to the commencement of Construction of any Engineered Structures [not referred to in Part E, Condition 12 (CONDITION TITLE)], the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Design and Construction Plan.** The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition x. The Licensee shall not commence Construction of the Engineered Structure(s) prior to Board approval of the Plan. | **DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee submits the Design and Construction Plans for Engineered Structures. Design and Construction Plans for these structures require Board approval; however, the detailed Design Drawings, which must be signed and stamped by a Professional Engineer, do not require approval and should be submitted separately as per the DESIGN DRAWINGS Condition. Although the Drawings are not submitted for Board approval, it can be helpful for reviewers to be able to consider both of these submissions together. By conducting adequate engagement prior to submission, the Licensee will reduce the potential need to spend additional time and effort revising the Plan and Drawings as a result of the public review.  Detailed information requirements for Design and Construction Plans are set out in the [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions). In some cases, information requirements may be specific to particular Engineered Structures.  If changes to an Engineered Structure (including alterations, upgrades, repairs, and/or replacement) are proposed after the Construction and Design Plan is approved and/or after the Structure has been constructed, the Licensee must submit a revised Construction and Design Plan to the Board, for approval prior to implementing the proposed changes, as per the REVISIONS Condition. |
|  | A minimum of 90 days prior to the commencement of Construction of any Engineered Structures [not referred to in Part E, Condition 12 (CONDITION TITLE)], the Licensee shall submit to the Board, **Design Drawings** stamped and signed by a Professional Engineer. A minimum of 90 days prior to implementing any proposed changes to the Design Drawings, the Licensee shall submit revised Design Drawings to the Board. | **DESIGN DRAWINGS** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure there is a detailed record of the design for future reference by the Board and the Inspector, and to ensure there is sufficient information for Closure and Reclamation Planning should the Project be abandoned. The Drawings also allow a comparison against as-built information submitted as per AS-BUILT REPORTS – ENGINEERED STRUCTURES. These Drawings are to be submitted separately from the Design and Construction Plan(s) because Board approval of the Drawings is not required.  This Condition may also be used as a stand-alone condition where a full Design and Construction Plan is not required.  If changes to an Engineered Structure (including alterations, upgrades, repairs, and/or replacement) are proposed after the submission of the Design Drawings and/or after the Structure has been constructed, the Licensee must submit revised Design Drawings to the Board prior to implementing the proposed changes. This is specified directly in this Condition, because the general REVISIONS Condition only applies to documents that are for Board approval. |
|  | A minimum of 30 days prior to the commencement of Construction of [enter name of specific Engineered Structure(s)], the Licensee shall submit to the Board, a **Design and Construction Plan**. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. A minimum of 30 days prior to implementing any proposed changes to the Plan, the Licensee shall submit a revised Plan to the Board. | **DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN – [enter name(s) of specific Engineered Structure(s), where applicable]** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee submits the Engineer’s Design and Construction Plans for any specific Engineered Structures where Board approval is not required for the Plans. This will be determined on a case-by-case basis during the regulatory process. It may apply for smaller Projects or Engineered Structures, where Board approval is determined to be unnecessary. It may also apply for larger Projects or Engineered Structures for which an expert panel has been established.  Detailed information requirements for Design and Construction Plans are set out in the [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions).  If changes to the Engineered Structures (including alterations, upgrades, repairs, and/or replacement) identified in this Condition are proposed after the submission of the Construction and Design Plan and/or after the Structure has been constructed, the Licensee must submit a revised Construction and Design Plan to the Board prior to implementing the proposed changes. This is specified directly in this Condition, because the general REVISIONS Condition only applies to documents that are for Board approval. |
|  | A minimum of ten days prior to the commencement of Construction of any Engineered Structure(s), the Licensee shall provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector. Notification shall include the Construction commencement date, and the name and contact information for the individual responsible for overseeing Construction. Written notification shall be provided to the Board and an Inspector if any changes occur. | **NOTIFICATION – CONSTRUCTION – ENGINEERED STRUCTURES** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee notifies the Board and Inspector prior to commencing Construction of an Engineered Structure. If this notification is provided while awaiting the Board’s decision regarding the Design and Construction Plan for the Engineered Structure, Board approval must still be acquired prior to actually commencing Construction.  This initial contact is important to establish lines of regular communication between the Licensee, Inspector, and Board, and to facilitate site inspections. Changes to the contact information and/or the expected commencement date are required in writing. |
|  | A minimum of ten days prior to the commencement of Construction of any structure(s) intended to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Wastes, the Licensee shall provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector. Notification shall include the Construction commencement date, and the name and contact information for the individual responsible for overseeing the Construction. Written notification shall be provided to the Board and an Inspector if any changes occur. | **NOTIFICATION –CONSTRUCTION** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee notifies the Board and Inspector prior to commencing Construction of any water and waste management structures (other than Engineered Structures). This Condition is related to the STRUCTURE DESCRIPTION AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN Condition.  This initial contact is important to establish lines of regular communication between the Licensee, Inspector, and Board, and to facilitate site inspections. Changes to the contact information are required in writing. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that all structures intended to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Wastes, excluding Engineered Structures, are constructed in accordance with the approved **Structure Description and Construction Plan(s)**. | **CONSTRUCT AS DESIGNED – STRUCTURE(S)** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure that structures are constructed as designed. This Condition will apply to all non-engineered Water and Waste management structures. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that all Engineered Structures are constructed in accordance with the [enter: **Design Drawings** and/or approved **Design and Construction Plan(s)**]. | **CONSTRUCT AS DESIGNED – ENGINEERED STRUCTURE(S)** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure that Engineered Structures are constructed as designed. |
|  | Within 90 days of the completion of the Construction of each Engineered Structure, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, an **As-Built Report** stamped and signed by a Professional Engineer,which shall include, but not be limited to, the following information:   1. final as-built drawings of the Engineered Structure(s), stamped and signed by a Professional Engineer; 2. documentation, with rationale, of field decisions that deviate from the [enter: **Design and Construction Plans** and/or **Design Drawings**]; and 3. any data used to support these decisions. | **AS-BUILT REPORT – ENGINEERED STRUCTURE(S)** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure that as-built information is available on the public record after Engineered Structures have been constructed.  If changes to an Engineered Structure are approved and constructed, the Licensee must submit an As-Built Report reflecting the changes as per the REVISIONS Condition. |
|  | **Tailings Containment Facility Dams** |  |  |
|  |  |  | Some or all of these conditions will be included for all new projects with tailings dams and may be added to existing licences during amendment or renewal processes. They are intended to be specific to tailings dams and not other structures; however, they may be adapted to other structures, such as non-tailings dams, for specific projects. These conditions are not intended to apply to remediation projects for sites with legacy tailings dams.  Based on the evidence gathered through the regulatory process, the establishment of an Independent Tailings Review Panel may be required; in other cases, an independent review of the Design and Construction Plan for the facility by a third-party Professional Engineer may be considered adequate in lieu of establishing a Panel. The requirement for one or the other will be determined on a case-by-case basis during the regulatory process. |
|  | The Licensee shall retain an Engineer of Record for the [enter name of Tailings Containment Facility]. | **ENGINEER OF RECORD** | The intent of this Condition is to reflect recent improvements in regulatory practices for and to ensure the appropriate level of regulatory oversight for Tailings Dams. This Condition will be included for all new Projects with Tailings Containment Facilities and is consistent with CDA Guidelines, requirements in other jurisdictions (e.g., revised *Health Safety and Reclamation Code for Mines in British Columbia*), and the Mining Association of Canada’s (MAC’s) *Guide to the Management of Tailings Facilities*. |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that the Engineer of Record establishes and annually reviews the Dam Class for [enter name of Tailings Containment Facility] and shall report any changes to the Dam Class in the **Geotechnical Inspection Report** referred to in Part F, Condition X (ANNUAL GEOTECHNICAL INSPECTION). | **DAM CLASSIFICATION** | The intent of this Condition is to reflect improvements in regulatory practices and to ensure the appropriate level of regulatory oversight for Tailings Dams. The correct Dam classification is critical for ensuring the appropriate level of Dam safety oversight. Reporting changes to the classification is important to alert the Board to the potential need for revisions to Licence submissions or an amendment to Licence conditions. This Condition will be included for all new projects with Tailings Containment Facilities and is consistent with other jurisdictions (e.g., *Guidance Document for the Health, Safety and Reclamation Code for Mines in British Columbia*, 2016). |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that the Engineer of Record establishes quantifiable performance objectives for the [enter name of Tailings Containment Facility] and reviews the quantifiable performance objectives annually for the life of the Facility. | **QUANTIFIABLE PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES** | The intent of this Condition is to reflect improvements in regulatory practices and to ensure the appropriate level of regulatory oversight for Tailings Dams. This requirement will be included for all new projects with Tailings Containment Facilities and is consistent with other jurisdictions (e.g., revised *Health Safety and Reclamation Code for Mines in British Columbia*, 2016) and industry best practices (e.g., Independent Expert Engineering Investigation and Review Panel Report on Mount Polley Tailings Storage Facility Breach, 2015) |
|  | A minimum of one year prior to the commencement of Construction of the [enter name of Tailings Containment Facility], the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Terms of Reference for [enter: the Independent Tailings Review Panel or an Independent Professional Engineer]**. The Licensee shall submit a revised **Terms of Reference** 30 days prior to implementation of any changes to the **Terms of Reference**. | **[INDEPENDENT TAILINGS REVIEW PANEL OR INDEPENDENT ENGINEER] – TERMS OF REFERENCE** | This Condition will be included if review by an Independent Tailings Review Panel or an independent Professional Engineer is determined to be necessary. The intent of this Condition is to create transparency on the composition of the Independent Tailings Review Panel or the selection of the Professional Engineer, and the roles and responsibilities of the Panel/Engineer, etc., so that all parties have confidence in the Panel/ Engineer.  Following submission of the Terms of Reference, the Board will conduct a standard public review and decision process. Once the Terms of Reference have been approved by the Board, the Licensee can begin establishing the Panel or selecting the Engineer. Prior to submission of the Design and Construction Plan for the facility, the Panel/Engineer must review the Plan and prepare a Letter of Acceptance to submit with the Plan (see INDEPENDENT TAILINGS REVIEW PANEL/INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER - LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE below).  The timeline for the submission of the Terms of Reference will reflect the Project schedule and the issuance date of the licence; however, in order to allow adequate time to complete the required processes following the Board’s decision (i.e., establishment of the Panel or selection of the Engineer, the Panel/Engineer’s review of the design, and the submission of the Design and Construction Plan and Design Drawings), the Terms of Reference will be required well in advance of commencing construction of the facility. |
|  | Option 1:  The Licensee shall establish an Independent Tailings Review Panel. The Licensee shall pay for all reasonable direct and indirect costs associated with the establishment of the Independent Tailings Review Panel and its duties that arise from the conditions of this Licence.  OR  Option 2:  The Licensee shall retain an independent Professional Engineer. The Licensee shall pay for all reasonable direct and indirect costs associated with the retention of the Professional Engineer and their duties that arise from the conditions of this Licence. | **INDEPENDENT TAILINGS REVIEW PANEL -ESTABLISHMENT AND COSTS**  **OR**  **INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER – RETENTION AND COSTS** | This Condition will be included if an Independent Tailings Review Panel or independent Professional Engineer is determined to be necessary. The intent of this Condition is to reflect improvements in regulatory practices and to ensure the appropriate level of regulatory oversight for Tailings Dams. The Condition is consistent with other jurisdictions (e.g., revised *Health Safety and Reclamation Code for Mines in British Columbia*, 2016) and industry best practices (e.g., Independent Expert Engineering Investigation and Review Panel Report on Mount Polley Tailings Storage Facility Breach, 2015).  The Terms of Reference will set out the requirements for the composition of the Panel or the selection of the Professional Engineer. Once the Terms of Reference are approved by the Board, the Licensee can begin establishing the Panel or selecting the Engineer. A timeline is not set for establishing the Panel or selecting the Engineer after the approval of the Terms of Reference; however, the Licensee must ensure that the Panel/Engineer has sufficient time to review the Design and Construction Plan and prepare the Letter of Acceptance (see INDEPENDENT TAILINGS REVIEW PANEL/INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER - LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE below). |
|  | A minimum of 30 days prior to the commencement of Construction of the [enter name of Tailings Containment Facility], the Licensee shall submit a **Letter of Acceptance** from [the Independent Tailings Review Panel or an independent Professional Engineer] that indicates their review and acceptance of the final **Design and Construction Plan** referred to in Part E, Condition X. | **[INDEPENDENT TAILINGS REVIEW PANEL OR INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER] – LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE** | This Condition will be included if either an Independent Tailings Review Panel, or an independent review by a third-party Professional Engineer, is determined to be necessary. The intent of this Condition is to provide a high degree of confidence in the Design and Construction Plan. The Letter must clearly state that the Panel/Engineer has reviewed and assessed the Design and Construction Plan and finds the Plan to be adequate and appropriate to proceed.  The timeline for submission of the Letter of Acceptance will match the Design and Construction Plan. The Design and Construction Plan will usually not require Board approval if an Independent Tailings Review Panel has been established or an independent Professional Engineer has been retained, so the timeline will usually be shorter (e.g., 30 days). |
|  | Part F: Waste and Water Management |  |  |
|  | The Licensee shall manage Waste and Water with the objective of minimizing the impacts of the Project on the quantity and quality of Water in the Receiving Environment through the use of appropriate mitigation measures, monitoring, and follow-up actions. | **OBJECTIVE – WASTE AND WATER MANAGEMENT** | This Condition sets out the overall objective for the requirements in Part F. This objective is consistent with the LWB [*Waste and Wastewater Management Policy*](https://mvlwb.com/resources/lwb-policies-and-guidelines). |
|  | The Licensee shall minimize erosion by implementing suitable erosion control measures that shall be located and maintained to the satisfaction of an Inspector. | **EROSION CONTROL** | The intent of this Condition is to prevent erosion and sediment deposition into Watercourses, because it can affect Water quality and aquatic habitat. Inspectors will use their discretion to determine whether the Licensee’s efforts are satisfactory and consistent with best practices.  This Condition is primarily for smaller projects as an alternative to the requirement for an Erosion and Sedimentation Management Plan. |
|  | **Management and Monitoring Plans** |  |  |
|  | Option 1:  The Licensee shall comply with the **[enter plan name]**, once approved.  OR  Option 2:  The Licensee shall comply with the **[enter plan name]**, once approved. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition y. | **[ENTER PLAN NAME]** | These conditions are used to set out the management plan, and operations and maintenance plan, requirements for each licence. Plan requirements are established based on LWB policies, guidelines, and information gathered during the regulatory process.  If detailed information requirements are set out for a particular management plan, they are typically attached in a [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions), which will be reflected in the Licence conditions.  Plans that are submitted with the application will be considered by the Board at the time the Licence is issued, and the Board’s decision on the plans will be communicated in its issuance decision letter and reasons for decision.  The [ENTER PLAN NAME] Conditions are used for management plans that are approved when the Licence is issued.  If a plan is not approved at issuance, the Licence will include the requirement for a revised plan (see [ENTER PLAN NAME] – REVISED.) Any new plan requirements will also follow this format.  The submission deadline for any given plan will depend on the project schedule and the activities described in the plan. Generally, the Licensee must not conduct the activities described within a plan until the plan is approved by the Board. |
|  | Option 1:  Within 90 days following the effective date of this Licence, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised **[enter plan name].** The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. The Licensee shall not commence [enter: Project activities OR activities described in the Plan] prior to Board approval of the Plan.  OR  Option 2:  A minimum of 90 days prior to commencement of activities, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised **[enter plan name**]. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. The Licensee shall not commence [enter: Project activities OR activities described in the Plan] prior to Board approval of the Plan. | **[ENTER PLAN NAME] – REVISED** |
|
|
|
|
|
|  | A minimum of one year prior to commencing removal of sludge from the Sewage Disposal Facilities, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Sludge Management Plan**. The Licensee shall not commence sludge removal prior to Board approval of the Plan. | **SLUDGE MANAGEMENT PLAN** | This Condition sets out the timeline for the submission of the Sludge Management Plan, which must be developed in accordance with the LWB/IWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Municipal Sludge Management for Passage Sewage Treatment Systems in the Northwest Territories*.  This Condition is intended for municipal licences with passive Sewage treatment systems (e.g., natural or engineered lagoons).  The suggested timeline in this Condition is based on the Guidelines and allows adequate time to complete the LWBs’ standard review and decision process, as well as the potential need for revisions. |
|  | **Operation of Structures and Facilities** |  |  |
|  | The Licensee shall construct, operate, and maintain the [enter name of structure/facility] to the design specifications and engineering standards, such that:   1. Any constructed structures/facilities are maintained and operated so as to prevent structural failure; **OR** the specifications described in the [facility name] **Design and Construction Plan**, referred to in Part E, Condition x are maintained at all times; 2. Seepage from the facility to the Receiving Environment is minimized, collected, and returned to the [facility name(s)]; **OR** Any Seepage from the facility that does not meet Effluent Quality Criteria, as specified in Part F, Condition x (EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA) shall be collected and returned to the [structure/facility name(s)]; 3. Any deterioration or erosion of constructed structures/facilities shall be reported immediately to an Inspector; 4. Any deterioration or erosion of constructed structures/facilities that requires repair shall be reported to an Inspector and the Board, and repaired immediately; 5. Monitoring of the facility is sufficient to ensure that:    * 1. Performance design criteria, as described in the **Design and Construction Plan/Operation and Maintenance Plan**, referred to in Part E, Condition x are being met; and      2. Necessary changes in operation of the facility, including any additional mitigations, are identified. | **[ENTER NAME OF STRUCTURE/FACILITY]** | This Condition sets out any specifications or limitations that apply to the construction, operation, and maintenance of particular structures or facilities. The intent is to ensure compliance with design specifications and/or best practices, prevent structural failure, and minimize environmental impacts.  Reporting on this Condition will occur through the information requirements in the Annual Water Licence Report for related plans.  Project-specific requirements may be added to this list as required based on the type of structure or facility, and information gathered during the regulatory process. |
|  | The Licensee shall maintain a Freeboard limit of one metre at the Sewage Disposal Facility, or as recommended by a Professional Engineer and as approved by the Board. | **SEWAGE DISPOSAL FACILITY – FREEBOARD** | Primarily intended for municipal licences or small Projects.  A minimum Freeboard of one metre is standard best practice for this type of facility. |
|  | The Licensee shall operate and maintain the Waste Disposal Facilities to prevent structural failure and to the satisfaction of an Inspector. | **PREVENT STRUCTURAL FAILURE** | Primarily intended for municipal licences or small Projects.  The intent of this Condition is to prevent potential environmental impacts from operation and failure of these facilities. |
|  | **Inspection of Structures and Facilities** |  |  |
|  | The Licensee shall conduct [enter frequency] inspections of the [enter names of structures/facilities] or as otherwise directed by an Inspector or the Board. Records of these inspections shall be made available to the Board or an Inspector upon request. | **[FREQUENCY] INSPECTION OF [ENTER NAME OF STRUCTURES/FACILITIES]** | As part of on-going monitoring and evaluation, Water and Waste management structures typically undergo a detailed annual inspection by a Professional Engineer (see ANNUAL GEOTECHNICAL INSPECTION). For some structures, more frequent inspections may also be required – these regular inspections do not need be conducted by an independent third party. The need for more frequent inspections should be identified during the regulatory process, and may be incorporated into management plan requirements, or set out directly in this Condition.  Different frequencies may be specified for different structures, and in some cases, this Condition may specify exceptions for temporary shutdowns or frozen periods. |
|  | The Licensee shall conduct daily erosion inspections of Discharge locations, with the exception of [enter Discharge location(s)], during periods of Discharge, or more frequently as directed by an Inspector. Records of these inspections shall be made available to the Board or an Inspector upon request. | **DAILY INSPECTIONS OF DISCHARGE LOCATIONS** | Because Discharge locations are susceptible to erosion and sediment disturbance, frequent inspections are required to ensure issues are detected and addressed.  Based on the evidence gathered during the regulatory process, exceptions may be included in this Condition for subsurface discharge to watercourses in some cases. In such cases, an Erosion and Sedimentation Management Plan will usually be required and must include frequent inspections in the surrounding areas and/or downstream. |
|
|
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that geotechnical inspections of [enter either: a list of structures, or all Engineered Structures] are conducted annually [if appropriate, enter the timing of the inspections (e.g., during the summer months)], and following any events that exceed design criteria, by a Professional Engineer. The Licensee shall:   1. A minimum of two weeks prior to the annual inspection, and when events that exceed design criteria occur, provide written notification to an Inspector; and 2. Within 90 days of completing the inspection, submit the Professional Engineer’s full **Geotechnical Inspection Report** to the Board and an Inspector. The Report shall include:    1. a covering letter from the Licensee outlining an implementation plan to respond to any recommendations made by the Professional Engineer, including rationale for any decisions that deviate from the Professional Engineer’s recommendations;    2. a recommendation from the Professional Engineer on whether the timing and frequency of the Dam Safety Review, required by Part F, Condition X, should be maintained or revised; and    3. a summary of any actions taken by the Licensee to address the recommendations made following the previous year’s inspection. | **ANNUAL GEOTECHNICAL INSPECTION** | As part of on-going monitoring and evaluation, some or all of the Project’s Water and Waste management structures must undergo a detailed annual inspection by a Professional Engineer.  The Professional Engineer is intended to be third-party to the Project, and not directly involved in the design and/or day-to-day management of on-site structures/facilities.  After events that exceed design criteria, an additional inspection must be conducted to determine whether the stability or function of the structure(s) has been affected.  This Condition will usually apply to all Engineered Structures. Other Water and Waste management structures may be added to this Condition based on the information gathered through the regulatory process.  The recommendation required under (b)(ii) is only used for Dams, in conjunction with the DAM SAFETY REVIEW Condition. The purpose of this requirement is to determine whether the established timing and frequency of the Dam Safety Review remains appropriate for the current condition of the Dam, based on the results of the geotechnical inspection (see the Frequency of Review section in the Dam Safety Guidelines for more information). This requirement provides the supporting evidence for the Board to provide direction on alternate frequency for the Dam Safety Review as per the DAM SAFETY REVIEW Condition. |
|  | A minimum of ten days prior to conducting the Dam Safety Review required under Part F, Condition X, the Licensee shall provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector. Notification shall include planned dates for the Review, and the name and contact information for the individual responsible for overseeing the Review. Written notification shall be provided to the Board and an Inspector if any changes occur. | **NOTIFICATION – DAM SAFETY REVIEW** | The intent of this notification Condition is to allow the Inspector to plan a site visit if necessary.  This Condition will be used in conjunction with DAM SAFETY REVIEW Condition. |
|  | The Licensee shall conduct a **Dam Safety Review** of the [enter name of structure/facility to be reviewed] within the first three years after commencing Construction, and every [enter frequency based on Dam class] thereafter, or at a frequency approved by the Board. The Dam Safety Review shall be conducted in accordance with the *Dam Safety Guidelines* by a Professional Engineer. | **DAM SAFETY REVIEW** | This Condition is consistent with the requirements of the *Dam Safety Guidelines*.  The Dam Safety Review must be conducted in accordance with the Guidelines, including the *Technical Bulletin – Dam Safety Reviews* (2016). |
|  | Prior to January 31 of the year following the year in which the Dam Safety Review was conducted, the Licensee shall submit the Professional Engineer’s **Dam Safety Review Report** to the Board. The Report shall be prepared in accordance with the *Dam Safety Guidelines* and shall include:   1. a conformity table, indicating how each of the applicable requirements in the *Dam Safety Guidelines* have been met; 2. a statement from the Professional Engineer on the safety of the Dam; 3. a summary list of findings with prioritized recommendations, prepared by the Professional Engineer; 4. a covering letter from the Licensee outlining an implementation plan to respond to any recommendations made by the Professional Engineer, including rationale for any decisions that deviate from the Professional Engineer’s recommendations; and 5. the status of and rationale for any outstanding recommendations from the previous Dam Safety Review. | **DAM SAFETY REVIEW REPORT** | This Condition is consistent with the requirements of the *Dam Safety Guidelines*.  The Dam Safety Review Report must be prepared in accordance with the Guidelines, including the *Technical Bulletin – Dam Safety Reviews* (2016). The conformity table should address the requirements set out in the Guidelines for both the Dam Safety Review and the Dam Safety Review Report.  The timing of the submission of the Dam Safety Review Report is intended to allow adequate time to conduct the desktop analyses that are required following the physical Dam inspection. The date may be adjusted based on Project-specific information gathered during the licencing process.  Annual updates on the implementation plan are required in the Water Licence Annual Report, so only the status of any outstanding recommendations from the previous Dam Safety Review are required here. These outstanding items should be incorporated in the new implementation plan. |
|  | **Discharge and Disposal Locations and Rates** |  |  |
|  | Option 1:  The Licensee shall dispose of all Waste as described in the approved **Waste Management Plan**.  OR  Option 2:  The Licensee shall dispose of all [enter type of Waste] to the [enter facility name], as described in the approved [**enter name of management or O&M plan**]. | **[ENTER TYPE OF WASTE] – [ENTER FACILITY NAME]** | For smaller projects, the first variation of this Condition links Waste disposal to the overall Waste Management Plan.  Larger projects may have more specific management or O&M plans for different types of Waste, as set out above in the Management and Monitoring Plan subsection of Part F. The second variation of this Condition sets out the approved disposal location for each major Waste stream, and, if applicable, links the Waste stream to the relevant management or O&M plan.  This Condition is not used for Effluent, which is addressed below in EFFLUENT DISCHARGE. |
|  | The Licensee shall discharge all Effluent from [enter name of facility] to [enter location of Discharge] as described in the approved [**enter name of management plan**]. | **EFFLUENT DISCHARGE – [ENTER FACILITY NAME]** | This Condition sets out the approved Discharge location for each type of Effluent and links the Effluent to the relevant management plan.  Project-specific conditions that set out rate and/or volume limitations for Effluent may be included as necessary. These conditions will be developed based on the evidence gathered through the regulatory process. |
|  | A minimum of ten days prior to disposing of any Waste into a licenced municipal facility, the Licensee shall provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector. | **NOTIFICATION – WASTE DISPOSAL** | Applicants (other than municipalities) planning to dispose of Waste at municipal facilities must obtain written agreement from the municipality in advance and should submit it with their application. Project activities may be delayed if it is not submitted before the Board considers issuing the licence and approving the Waste Management Plan.  Regardless of this initial agreement requirement, applicants should note that the ability of the municipality to accept and manage additional Waste streams may change over time, so applicants that are relying on Waste disposal at municipal facilities are expected to develop contingencies as part of their Waste Management Plan.  The notification Condition follows up on the initial agreement by allowing the Inspector an opportunity to confirm that the licenced municipal facility is still able to accept the Waste as originally proposed.  The timeline and frequency of notification will be project-specific and will depend on the evidence gathered during the public review of the application. Notification could be required only prior to the first disposal, annually, or prior to each disposal, for example. |
|  | The Licensee shall not accept Sewage and solid Wastes generated by industrial, commercial, and institutional operators working outside of the local government boundaries of [enter community name] unless authorized in writing by an Inspector. | **SEWAGE AND SOLID WASTES – MUNICIPAL** | This Condition may be included in municipal licences only. The intent of this Condition is to ensure that the nature of the proposed Waste is within the scope of the Licence and to prevent exceeding limited capacity at municipal Waste Disposal Facilities.  The Inspector’s authorization only confirms that the municipal facility has the capacity to accept the Waste; the Inspector cannot authorize Waste disposal that is not already within the scope of the municipal licence. |
|  | The Licensee shall not accept Hazardous Wastes generated by commercial and industrial operators at the Waste Disposal Facilities. | **HAZARDOUS WASTES – MUNICIPAL** | This Condition may be included in municipal licences only. The intent of this Condition is to prevent exceeding limited capacity for Hazardous Wastes at municipal Waste Disposal Facilities. |
|  | The Licensee shall not dispose of Waste, including Wastewater, to any Watercourse, or to the ground surface within 100 metres of the Ordinary High-Water Mark of any Watercourse. | **DISPOSAL LOCATION – ORDINARY HIGH-WATER MARK** | The intent of this Condition is to prevent Waste from entering Watercourses and affecting water quality, fish and other aquatic life, and downstream users.  This Condition would not be included when the Licence allows for authorized Discharges with specified locations. It may be included for appropriate circumstances, such as oil and gas operations when specific Sump locations are not known at the start of the Project. |
|  | **Effluent Quality Criteria** |  |  |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that [enter type of Effluent] from [enter structure/facility] at Surveillance Network Program station [enter SNP station number] has a pH value between [x and y] and meets the following Effluent Quality Criteria (EQC):   |  |  |  |  | | --- | --- | --- | --- | | **Parameter** | **EQC** | | | | **mg/L** | | **mg** | | **Maximum Average Concentration** | **Maximum Grab Concentration** | **Annual Loading Limit** | |  |  |  |  | |  |  |  |  | | **EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA** | This Condition sets out Effluent Quality Criteria that define the maximum allowable concentrations (e.g., mg/L), quantities (e.g., kg/year), or limits (e.g., pH range) of any contaminant or parameter in the Discharge which, in the Board’s opinion, has the potential to adversely affect Water quality in the Receiving Water.  EQC are set by the Board based on the evidence gathered through the regulatory process. More information is available in the LWB [*Waste and Wastewater Management Policy*](https://mvlwb.com/resources/lwb-policies-and-guidelines), and the LWB/GNWT [*Guidelines for Effluent Mixing Zones*](https://mvlwb.com/resources/lwb-policies-and-guidelines). |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that Discharge to [enter receiving waterbody name] shall not be acutely toxic to aquatic life as determined at SNP station X by the test methods referenced in the Surveillance Network Program in Schedule 1. | **EFFLUENT QUALITY – TOXICITY – [ENTER NAME OF FACILITY]** | The intent of this Condition is to ensure that Discharge(s) to the Receiving Water is not acutely toxic to aquatic life. Toxicity testing requirements are set out in the attached Surveillance Network Program.  Toxicity testing may be required to confirm predictions even if a Discharge is not expected to be toxic. Predictions will usually be based on the information available about the individual components of the Discharge, but the interactions of the components when mixed together in the Discharge is usually unknown.  This Condition is usually used in conjunction with the EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA Condition. |
|  | The Licensee shall submit Water quality data for samples collected from Surveillance Network Program station [enter # (structure/facility name)] to the Board and an Inspector as follows:   1. A minimum of five days prior to commencing or resuming Discharge of Effluent to [location]; and 2. A minimum of five days prior to commencing or resuming Discharge of Effluent to [location] following an exceedance of the EQC specified in Part F, Condition x (EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA) (the table).   The Licensee shall not commence or resume the Discharge until the EQC are met and an Inspector has provided written authorization. | **TESTING BEFORE DISCHARGE – [ENTER NAME OF STRUCTURE/FACILITY]** | The intent of this Condition is to confirm that any applicable EQC can be met before the Licensee initiates or resumes Discharge (including decants).  This Condition will apply when Discharge is first initiated and may also apply when Discharge is resumed after a Temporary Closure (of the facility or the Project) but is not intended to apply after routine maintenance shutdowns.  For Projects with intermittent or periodic Discharge (e.g., decants or seasonal Discharges), the need for testing before each Discharge will be determined during the regulatory process. |
|  | If Water quality data from any sample collected at Surveillance Network Program stations [enter #] exceeds the EQC specified in Part F, Condition x (EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA), or is determined to be acutely toxic as per Part F, Condition y (EFFLUENT QUALITY - TOXICITY), the Licensee shall:   1. Cease the Discharge; 2. Notify the Board and an Inspector immediately; 3. Report the spill immediately in accordance with the **Spill Contingency Plan** referred to in Part H, Condition X; 4. Comply with the approved [enter appropriate management plan] referred to in Part F, Condition x; and 5. Within 30 days of initially reporting the incident, or within a timeframe authorized by an Inspector, submit a detailed report on the occurrence, including a summary of corrective actions taken, to the Board and an Inspector. | **EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA – EXCEEDANCE – [ENTER NAME OF STRUCTURE/FACILITY]** | This Condition sets out the general response actions that must be taken if any sample at the identified SNP station exceeds EQC or fails acute toxicity testing, which constitutes an Unauthorized Release. Spill reporting may also be required in these situations, so the Licensee should seek direction from the Inspector immediately.  Response actions should be set out in the applicable management plan. In some cases, this will be a Spill Contingency Plan, but it could be a management plan or an O&M plan. The reporting requirement in this Condition will confirm whether the response actions are consistent with the applicable plan.  This Condition will usually only be applied at Discharge locations. |
|  | A minimum of 90 days prior to conducting the plume delineation study, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Plume Delineation Study Design** for the [name of Effluent stream]. | **PLUME DELINEATION STUDY DESIGN** | The Condition may be included where Discharge to a Watercourse has been authorized and a mixing zone has been allocated. The intent of this Condition is to confirm mixing predictions, since the predictions are used to calculate Effluent Quality Criteria.  The Study Design shall be developed in accordance with the LWB/GNWT [*Guidelines for Effluent Mixing Zones*](https://mvlwb.com/resources/lwb-policies-and-guidelines). |
|  | Within 90 days of the completion of the plume delineation study referred to in Part F, Condition X (PLUME DELINEATION STUDY DESIGN), the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Plume Delineation Study Report**. | **PLUME DELINEATION STUDY REPORT** | If a plume delineation study is required, the Licensee must submit a report explaining the results of the study and evaluating the mixing zone predictions.  Because the Plume Delineation Study Report will include information that may affect the assumptions used in EQC calculations, public review and Board decision are usually required; however, any changes to EQC must be considered through an amendment process. |
|  | **Other** |  |  |
|  | If an Artesian Aquifer is encountered and producing Water at the ground surface, the Licensee shall:   1. Implement the [enter name of management plan]; 2. Within 48 hours, notify the Board and an Inspector, in writing, including the flow rate in cubic metres; 3. Dispose of Artesian Aquifer Water to a snow-bermed or self-contained area, unless otherwise authorized by an Inspector; 4. Collect a sample of no less than ten litres of Artesian Aquifer Water, provide five litres of the sample to an Inspector for analysis, analyze the remaining sample as set out for SNP station [enter station number], and provide the analytical results to the Board and an Inspector; 5. Seal the borehole to permanently prevent any further outflow of water and to the satisfaction of an Inspector; and 6. Within 24 hours following cessation of the flow of Artesian Aquifer Water, submit a detailed report of the event to the Board and an Inspector, including the total amount of Water in cubic metres that has been released, and the total amount of Water in cubic metres stored in the snow-bermed, or otherwise approved, storage area. | **REPORT ARTESIAN AQUIFER** | This Condition sets out the general response actions that must be taken if an Artesian Aquifer is encountered. This Condition is primarily intended for oil and gas exploration licences.  Spill reporting may also be required in these situations, so the Licensee should seek direction from the Inspector immediately. |
|  | Part G: Aquatic Effects Monitoring |  |  |
|  | *Intentionally left blank.* |  | For clarity and consistent sequencing in licences, this row will be included if there are no conditions in this section. This row will be removed entirely if there are conditions in this section. |
|  | The Licensee shall design and implement an Aquatic Effects Monitoring Program (AEMP) in accordance with the MVLWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring* *Programs.* | **OBJECTIVE – AEMP** | The conditions in Part G are included if an AEMP is required for a project.  Guidance is available in the LWB/GNWT [*Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring Programs.*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/aemp_guidelines_-_mar_5_19.pdf) |
|  | Within [enter timeline] of the effective date of this Licence, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, an **AEMP Design Plan**. The Plan shall be in accordance with the MVLWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring Programs.* | **AEMP DESIGN PLAN** | This Condition sets out the submission timeline for an AEMP Design Plan, which must be developed by the Licensee if an AEMP is required for a project. The Design Plan will be required prior to the initial Deposit of Waste into Water (either directly or indirectly) by the Project.  The Design Plan describes how the Licensee will monitor Project-related effects in the Receiving Water, and how the Licensee will analyze, report, and respond to monitoring results.  The Design Plan must be implemented once approved by the Board as per the general condition in [Part B](#_Part_B:_General_1) (COMPLY WITH SUBMISSIONS AND REVISIONS). |
|  | Three years following implementation of the **AEMP Design Plan**, and every three years thereafter, or as directed by the Board, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, an **AEMP Re-Evaluation Report**. The Report shall be in accordance with the MVLWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring* Programs and shall evaluate the overall effectiveness of the AEMP to date. | **AEMP RE-EVALUATION REPORT** | This Condition sets out the requirement for submission of an Aquatic Effects Re-Evaluation Report every three years following the implementation of the AEMP Design Plan.  The purpose of the Re-Evaluation Report is to provide the information necessary to check whether the Project-related environmental effects are and will remain within an acceptable range, or if changes to the Project or Licence are required. This Report should also be used to evaluate the effectiveness of the AEMP and provide supporting evidence for recommending revisions to the AEMP Design Plan, if necessary. The three-year timeline is intended to allow the collection of adequate data to support this evaluation. |
|  | Every three years following implementation of the **AEMP Design Plan**, or as directed by the Board, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised **AEMP Design Plan**. The revised Plan shall be in accordance with the MVLWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring Programs.* | **AEMP DESIGN PLAN – REVISED** | This Condition sets out the timeline for regular review and resubmission of the AEMP Design Plan. The three-year timeline is intended to allow for collection of adequate data to support any proposed revisions. Any changes that were recommended through AEMP Annual Reports and Re-Evaluation Reports should be considered in this revision. |
|  | Beginning [date, including year], and no later than [date] of each year thereafter, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, an **AEMP Annual Report**. The Report shall be in accordance with the MVLWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring Programs* and the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. | **AEMP ANNUAL REPORT** | The purpose of the AEMP Annual Report is to present the results and analysis of AEMP monitoring data collected in the preceding calendar year.  The specific information requirements for this Report are listed in the corresponding [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions_4).  Public review and Board decision are required for this Report, because data should be accurately reported; Licence requirements should be met; and data interpretation and conclusions should be appropriate. However, Board approval of the AEMP Annual Report does not constitute approval of any recommended changes to the Design Plan that may be set out within the Report. The Board’s decision letter on this Report will provide direction on how and when recommended changes should be incorporated into the Design Plan. |
|
|
|
|  | If any low Action Level established in the approved **AEMP Design Plan** is exceeded, the Licensee shall, at a minimum, implement the response actions described in the approved **AEMP Design Plan**, and report the exceedance in the **AEMP Annual Report**. | **LOW ACTION LEVEL EXCEEDANCE** | This Condition sets out the required response to any low Action Level exceedance. The minimum response actions are established in and approved through the AEMP Design Plan. |
|  | If any moderate or high Action Level established in the approved **AEMP Design Plan** is exceeded, the Licensee shall:   1. Within the timeframe identified in the approved **AEMP Design Plan**, notify the Board and an Inspector; and 2. Within the timeframe identified in the approved **AEMP Design Plan**, or as otherwise directed by the Board, submit an **AEMP Response Plan** to the Board for approval. TheResponse Plan shall be in accordance with the MVLWB/GNWT *Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring Programs.* | **MODERATE OR HIGH ACTION LEVEL EXCEEDANCE** | This Condition sets out the requirements for notification of any moderate and high Action Level exceedances, and for the submission of associated AEMP Response Plans.  Action Levels, notification timelines, and general response actions and timelines are established in the AEMP Design Plan, and AEMP Response Plans describe the Licensee’s proposed response to an exceedance of any moderate or high Action Level. Response Plans may provide the basis for a Board directive to do additional studies, implement additional mitigations, and/or to make changes to the AEMP Design Plan or water licence. |
|  | Part H: Spill Contingency Planning |  |  |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that Unauthorized Releases associated with the Project do not enter any Water. | **OBJECTIVE – PREVENT WASTE INTO WATER** | The intent of this Condition is to protect Water quality in the event of a spill or other Unauthorized Release. |
|  | The Licensee shall comply with the **Spill Contingency Plan**, once approved. | **SPILL CONTINGENCY PLAN** | A Spill Contingency Plan (SCP) is required with the application. The SCP must be in accordance with the INAC [*Guidelines for Spill Contingency Planning*](https://www.enr.gov.nt.ca/sites/enr/files/guidelines_for_spill_contingency_planning_2007.pdf). The SCP should describe and plan for foreseeable worst-case scenarios.  SCPs that are submitted with an application will be considered by the Board at the time the Licence is issued, and the Board’s decision on the SCP will be communicated in its issuance decision letter.  If the SCP is not approved at issuance, the Licence will include the requirement for a revised SCP (see options 1 and 2 for SPILL CONTINGENCY PLAN – REVISED.)  The SCP must be approved and implemented at the beginning of a Project to prevent contamination of land and Water in case of any spill. |
|  | Option 1:  Within 90 days [enter either: following the effective date of this Licence OR prior to the commencement of activities], the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised **Spill Contingency Plan**. The Licensee shall not commence Project activities prior to Board approval of the Plan.  OR  Option 2:  A minimum of 90 days prior to the commencement of [enter Project-specific activity], the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised **Spill Contingency Plan**. The Licensee shall not commence [enter Project-specific activity] prior to Board approval of the Plan. | **SPILL CONTINGENCY PLAN – REVISED** |
|  | If a spill or an Unauthorized Release occurs or is foreseeable, the Licensee shall:  a) Implement the approved Spill Contingency Plan referred to in Part H, Condition x;  b) Report it immediately using the NU-NT Spill Report Form by one of the following methods:  • Telephone: (867) 920-8130  • Fax: (867) 873-6924  • E-mail: spills@gov.nt.ca  • Online: Spill Reporting and Tracking Database  c) Notify the Board and an Inspector immediately; and  d) Within 30 days of initially reporting the incident, or within a timeframe authorized by an Inspector, submit a detailed report to the Board and an Inspector, including descriptions of causes, response actions, and any changes to procedures to prevent similar occurrences in the future. Written notification shall be provided to the Board and an Inspector if any changes occur. | **REPORT SPILLS** | This Condition will only be included for small projects, where a stand-alone SCP is not included in the application. Otherwise, this information must be included in the SCP.  The intent of this Condition is to ensure the Licensee is aware of the standard procedure following a spill or Unauthorized Release. Project-specific details are to be described in the SCP, which must be developed in accordance with the INAC [*Guidelines for Spill Contingency Planning*](https://www.enr.gov.nt.ca/sites/enr/files/guidelines_for_spill_contingency_planning_2007.pdf). |
|  | The Licensee shall ensure that spill prevention infrastructure and spill response equipment is in place prior to commencement of the Project. | **SPILL PREVENTION AND RESPONSE EQUIPMENT** | Spill prevention infrastructure, such as secondary containment, and spill response equipment, such as spill kits and drip trays, should be available and in-place on-site before the Project commences to respond to spills and prevent larger-scale contamination of land and Water. |
|  | The Licensee shall restore all areas affected by spills and Unauthorized Releases to the satisfaction of an Inspector. | **CLEAN UP SPILLS** | This requirement is consistent with the INAC [*Guidelines for Spill Contingency Planning*](https://www.enr.gov.nt.ca/sites/enr/files/guidelines_for_spill_contingency_planning_2007.pdf). |
|  | The Licensee shall not establish any fuel storage facilities or refueling stations, or store chemicals or Wastes within 100 metres of the Ordinary High-Water Mark of any Watercourse. | **MATERIAL STORAGE – ORDINARY HIGH-WATER MARK** | The intent of this Condition is to provide a buffer to prevent fuel spills from impacting surface Water. This Condition is normally included in a Land Use Permit but may be included in a Licence if there is no associated Permit for the Project.  The Board, when considering the application, may authorize fuel storage within 100 metres of Water under specific conditions (e.g., if moving fuel further poses a risk of leaks/spills, if there is a hill separating fuel from water, etc.). |
|  | Part I: Closure and Reclamation |  |  |
|  |  |  | Information on developing Closure and Reclamation Plans, Annual Closure and Reclamation Progress Reports, Closure and Reclamation Completion Reports, and Performance Assessment Reports is available in the MVLWB/AANDC [*Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*](https://glwb.com/sites/default/files/documents/wg/WLWB_5363_Guidelines_Closure_Reclamation_WR.pdf). While these Guidelines were developed for mineral exploration and mining, the information is applicable to other types of projects.  Municipalities will not be required to submit an overall Closure and Reclamation Plan but will be required to submit Component-Specific Closure and Reclamation Plans as set out in the conditions below. Closure and Reclamation planning information for municipalities is available in Environment and Climate Change Canada’s [*Solid Waste Management for Northern and Remote Communities: Planning and Technical Guidance Document*](https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/managing-reducing-waste/municipal-solid/environment/northern-remote-communities.html)*.*  A Closure and Reclamation Plan will be required for remediation projects. The Plan will be separate from a Remediation Action Plan (RAP) and must describe Closure and Reclamation for any processes, structures, facilities, and/or Wastes that are introduced by a remediation project. A Remediation Action Plan may be submitted with a licence application as a project description, but it will not be considered equivalent to a CRP and will not be included in licence conditions. |
|  | Option 1: Within 18 months following the effective date of this Licence, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Closure and Reclamation Plan.**  OR  Option 2: Within 18 months following the effective date of this Licence, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Closure and Reclamation Plan.** The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. | **CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION PLAN** | The development of a Closure and Reclamation Plan (CRP) is an iterative process. Initially, a conceptual CRP is typically required as part of an application package for larger projects. For small projects, Closure and Reclamation information must still be submitted with the application, but a formal CRP may not be necessary, or may be required at a later date through this licence Condition.  Based on information gathered during the regulatory process, a revised Plan will usually be required following Licence issuance, and the Plan may need to be updated and resubmitted several times over the life of a Project.  Option 1 will be used when the CRP must be in accordance with the LWB/AANDC [*Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*](https://glwb.com/sites/default/files/documents/wg/WLWB_5363_Guidelines_Closure_Reclamation_WR.pdf)*,* as set out in the Licence definition for the CRP.  Option 2 will be used for small projects, when the CRP definition does not reference the Guidelines. In this case, CRP requirements will be set out in the [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions_2). |
|  | Option 1: Every three years following the previous approval, or as directed by the Board, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised **Closure and Reclamation Plan**.  OR  Option 2: Every three years following the previous approval, or as directed by the Board, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a revised **Closure and Reclamation Plan**. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition y. | **CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION PLAN – REVISED** | This Condition sets out the timeline for regular review and resubmission of the Closure and Reclamation Plan. The three-year timeline is intended to allow for enough data to be collected through reclamation research to support any proposed revisions. Any changes that were recommended through Reclamation Research Reports should be considered in this revision.  CRPs for larger projects often go through multiple iterations before being approved, and because this Condition only applies after approval, it does not affect that process. It also does not preclude the option to revise the CRP at other times to reflect any important changes. |
|  | Option 1: Three years prior to the expiry date of this Licence, or a minimum of two years prior to the end of operations, whichever occurs first, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a final **Closure and Reclamation Plan**.  Option 2: Three years prior to the expiry date of this Licence, or a minimum of two years prior to the end of operations, whichever occurs first, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a final **Closure and Reclamation Plan**. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. | **CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION PLAN – FINAL** | The development of a CRP is an iterative process. Additional information gathered over the life of a project will be incorporated into the CRP, and there may be several interim versions of the CRP over the life of the Project. As the operational phase of the Project nears completion, the CRP must be finalized. Sufficient time must be allowed for review and approval of the final CRP before final Closure and Reclamation activities can begin. |
|  | Option 1:  One year prior to Progressive Reclamation of any specific component of the Project, and until a final Closure and Reclamation Plan is approved, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a Component-Specific **Closure and Reclamation Plan**. The Licensee shall not commence activities described in the Plan prior to Board approval.  OR  Option 2:  One year prior to Progressive Reclamation of any specific component of the Project, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a Component-Specific **Closure and Reclamation Plan**. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. The Licensee shall not commence activities described in the Plan prior to Board approval. | **COMPONENT-SPECIFIC CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION PLAN** | This Condition will generally only be included for larger projects with major components. If Closure and Reclamation of specific Project components is committed to or planned prior to approval of the final version of the overall CRP for the Project, a Component-Specific CRP must be submitted for approval. This Condition can also be satisfied if the required level of detail for the component is provided and approved through the overall CRP.  The intent is for this Condition to apply to major structures and facilities. The Licensee must provide the level of detail that would be required in a final Closure and Reclamation design for the component, including detailed design reports for any engineered Closure and Reclamation structures.  Licensees should note that a Component-Specific CRP is considered interim in most cases, because it may not be possible for all elements of a final overall CRP to be included (e.g., final Closure Criteria). This will likely affect the evaluation of any potential security refund that is associated with this type of Progressive Reclamation.  Option 1 will be used when the CRP must be in accordance with the LWB/AANDC [*Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*](https://glwb.com/sites/default/files/documents/wg/WLWB_5363_Guidelines_Closure_Reclamation_WR.pdf)*,* as set out in the Licence definition for the CRP. Any relevant information requirements set out in the Guidelines for a final CRP will apply.  Option 2 will typically only be used for municipal licences, or power licences, where an overall CRP is often not required due to the lifespan of the Project. In this case, CRP requirements will be set out in the [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions_2). |
|  | The Licensee shall endeavor to carry out approved Progressive Reclamation as soon as is reasonably practicable. | **PROGRESSIVE RECLAMATION** | The intent of this Condition is to encourage Progressive Reclamation. Regarding what is ‘reasonably practicable,’ the Inspector will determine what is practical on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration any timelines set out in approved overall or Component-Specific CRPs. |
|  | The Licensee shall not conduct Progressive Reclamation except as approved by the Board. | **PROGRESSIVE RECLAMATION – CARRY OUT AS APPROVED** | Progressive Reclamation is encouraged and supported by the Board. The intent of this Condition is to ensure that Progressive Reclamation activities are approved by the Board prior to being carried out.  For large projects, Progressive Reclamation will be approved by the Board either through the CRP, or through a Component-Specific CRP. Because the overall CRP must be revised for Board approval every three years (see CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION PLAN – REVISED), each version of the CRP must set out planned Progressive Reclamation for the upcoming three-year period. The Board’s decision letter on the CRP will then include direction on which planned Progressive Reclamation activities will require a more detailed Component-Specific CRP for approval. This will typically include all major structures and facilities. The Board’s decision letter may also include approval of individual sections of the CRP that address smaller or general progressive reclamation activities that do not require a component-specific CRP.  For small projects, Progressive Reclamation will usually be approved either through the CRP; or, if there is no approved CRP in place, or there is no stand-alone CRP, the Licensee can request approval from the Board to carry out planned Progressive Reclamation activities.  For municipal licences, Progressive Reclamation will be approved through Operations and Maintenance Manuals, and Component-Specific CRPs. |
|  | Beginning [enter date, including the year] and no later than every [enter date] thereafter, the Licensee shall provide written notification to the Board and an Inspector of any approved Progressive Reclamation that will be conducted in the upcoming year**.** Notification shall include the name and contact information for the individual responsible for overseeing the Progressive Reclamation. Written notification shall be provided to the Board and an Inspector if any changes occur. | **PROGRESSIVE RECLAMATION – NOTIFICATION** | The intent of this notification Condition is to allow the Inspector to plan a site visit if necessary. This requirement is set out in the LWB/AANDC [*Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*](https://glwb.com/sites/default/files/documents/wg/WLWB_5363_Guidelines_Closure_Reclamation_WR.pdf)*.* |
|  | Every three years following the commencement of Reclamation Research, or as directed by the Board, the Licensee shall submit to the Board, for approval, a **Reclamation Research Report**. The Report shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. | **RECLAMATION RESEARCH REPORT** | The purpose of the Reclamation Research Report is to inform revisions to the CRP.  While a summary of completed Reclamation Research is required as part of CRP progress reporting in the Water Licence Annual Report, detailed reclamation research results should be presented in this Reclamation Research Report, with associated analysis, interpretation, conclusions, and recommendations. Specific information requirements are set out in the [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions_2).  The intent of requiring this Report every three years is to allow the collection of adequate data to support analysis and recommendations. The timing of this Report is intended to align with the required updates to the CRP (every three years); however, since Reclamation Research could be initiated prior to the Board’s approval of the CRP, the Board may need to provide direction on when this Report should be submitted. |
|  | Within x days of completing Closure and Reclamation of any specific component of the Project, the Licensee shall submit to the Board a **Closure and** **Reclamation Completion Report**. The Report shall be in accordance with the MVLWB/AANDC *Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*. | **CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION COMPLETION REPORT** | The general purpose of a Closure and Reclamation Completion Report is to provide a description of the activities undertaken to close and reclaim the component(s), including any deviations from what was planned, and a brief description of any monitoring that is required. The Report will be compared to the approved CRP.  Subsequently, the Licensee will typically need to conduct monitoring to determine whether Closure Objectives and Criteria are met. This monitoring will be described either in the CRP or in the Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plan, depending on the Licence requirements and Board direction. The Licensee will report on this monitoring in the Performance Assessment Report. If Closure Objectives and Criteria are not met, additional Closure and Reclamation activities may be necessary.  For smaller projects, a single Closure and Reclamation Completion Report outlining how the site was reclaimed would be appropriate. For larger projects, where facilities or components are closed and reclaimed prior to the end of operations, a Closure and Reclamation Completion Report is expected following the Closure and Reclamation of each of the facilities/components as well as a final Closure and Reclamation Completion Report for the whole Project. |
|  | As directed by the Board, the Licensee shall submit to the Board for approval, a **Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plan**. The Plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule X, Condition Y. | **POST-CLOSURE MONITORING AND MAINTENANCE PLAN** | The timing for the Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plan for the Project site will be Project-specific and will be determined by the Board alongside the development of the CRP. Although closure and reclamation are not defined separately in licences because they are not clearly distinct phases, this Plan will likely be required and implemented after some or all closure activities are complete, but before reclamation activities are complete. This Plan may need to be revised and resubmitted as Closure and Reclamation progresses.  The monitoring described in this Plan should be based on the approved CRP, and should include consideration of the completed Closure and Reclamation activities and any deviations from the approved CRP.  Specific information requirements are set out in the [Schedule](#_Schedule_X:_Conditions). |
|  | Within x months of completing Closure and Reclamation of any specific component of the Project, the Licensee shall submit to the Board for approval, a **Performance Assessment Report**. The Report shall be in accordance with the MVLWB/AANDC *Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*. The Licensee shall submit subsequent Reports as directed by the Board. | **PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT REPORT – COMPONENT-SPECIFIC** | The general purpose of the Performance Assessment Report is to provide a detailed comparison of conditions at the site against the approved Closure Objectives and Closure Criteria.  A Performance Assessment Report should be prepared after the associated Closure and Reclamation Completion Report has been submitted, and after a time period needed to assess the performance of Closure and Reclamation. The Performance Assessment Report should reflect the results of monitoring carried out under the approved CRP or Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plan, as the case may be.  Subsequent Performance Assessment Reports may be required by the Board when longer-term Closure Objectives are in place.  Any monitoring or maintenance recommendations presented in this Report are not approved through this Report; however, this Report can be used to support revisions to affected monitoring or management plans (e.g., the Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plan), or requests to adjust security. |

# Schedule 1: Surveillance Network Program (SNP)

Notes:

* At this time, the SNP Schedule template is included for formatting purposes only – it does not include typical SNP requirements.
* Not all SNP subsections will be required in every SNP.

**Reporting Requirements**

**Surveillance Network Station Descriptions and Sampling Requirements**

1. SNP Station information is set out below. The location of each Station is approximate and subject to approval from an Inspector.

**SNP Station Quick Reference Guide**

|  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- |
| Station # | Description | Status |
|  |  |  |
|  |  |  |

**SNP Station X-Y**

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Description: |  |
| Location: |  |
| Sampling Frequency: |  |
| Sampling Parameters: |  |
| Rationale: |  |
| Status: |  |

**Other Monitoring Requirements**

**Meteorological Monitoring Requirements**

# Schedule X: Annual Water Licence Report

|  | **Condition** | **Rationale** |
| --- | --- | --- |
|  | The **Annual Water Licence Report** referred to in Part B, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following information about activities conducted during the previous calendar year OR from X to Y of the preceding year of operations]: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for the Annual Water Licence Report. The list of information requirements will be customized to reflect the Licence conditions; it may not include all of these items, and/or may include additional, project-specific items that are not in this list.  For the purpose of clarity and continuity of the public record for a project, annual reporting is still required for seasonal or temporary shut-down periods. The Licensee should explain that no work was done during specific time periods or for the full year. If volume reporting is required (e.g., monthly or annual Water use or Waste disposal volumes) the Licensee should enter zero where appropriate. |
|  | 1. A brief summary of Project activities; |
|  | 1. An updated Project schedule; |
|  | 1. The monthly and annual quantities in cubic metres of fresh Water obtained from all sources, as required in Part B, Condition x (MEASURE WATER USE AND WASTE DISPOSAL) of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of the calibration and status of the meters and devices referred to in Part B, Condition x (MEASURE WATER USE AND WASTE DISPOSAL) of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of engagement activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Engagement Plan**, referred to in Part B, Condition x of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of how Traditional Knowledge was incorporated into decision making; |
|  | 1. A summary of Construction activities conducted in accordance with Part E of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of major maintenance activities conducted in accordance with this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved [enter name of management plan], referred to in Part F, Condition x of this Licence, including:   i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of [enter the overarching type of material the plan covers - Water, Waste, or other materials];  ii. Monthly and annual quantities/volumes by location of [enter: Water, Waste, or other materials] managed under the Plan;  iii. A summary and interpretation of any monitoring results;  iv. A list of any Action Level exceedances; and  v. A description of actions taken in response to any Action level exceedances. |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Water and Wastewater Management Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition x of this Licence, including:   i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of Water and Wastewater;  ii. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of Water obtained from each approved source;  iii. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of recycled Water, identifying both the source and use;  iv. Monthly and annual quantities of Water, in cubic metres, used for dust control;  v. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of [enter: Wastewater/treated Wastewater/treated Sewage/Minewater] from the [enter facility name, such as Sewage Disposal Facilities, Waste Rock Storage Facilities, Tailings Containment Facilities, open pit, underground mine];  vi. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of all Discharges, identified by Discharge location;  vii. Monthly elevations, in metres, of Water in the [enter facilities and/or waterbodies];  viii. Monthly and annual flow volume, in cubic metres, at [enter location or SNP station];  ix. Monthly and annual estimates and/or measurements of precipitation and Runoff;  x. A comparison of Water and Wastewater quantities measured in the year to the Water balances predicted for that year in the approved Plan, and an explanation of any significant differences between predictions and actual measurements;  xi. An updated Water balance if required as per the approved Plan;  xii. A summary and interpretation of monitoring results, including any Action Level exceedances; and  xiii. A description of actions taken in response to any Action Level exceedances. |
|  | 1. Option 1:   A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Waste Management Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition x of this Licence, including:  i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of Waste;  ii. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of [enter specific solid Waste type] disposed of, by location;  iii. Monthly and annual quantities of [enter specific liquid Waste type] disposed of, by location;  iv. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of [Sewage solids and/or sludge] removed from the [enter facility name], identified by disposal location;  v. Monthly elevations in metres of the [enter facility name]; and  vi. A map depicting the location of the Sumps.  **OR**  Option 2:  The monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of each and all Wastewater Discharges, and Waste disposed of to Waste Disposal Facilities, identified by location; |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Sewage Disposal Facilities Operations and Maintenance Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence, including:    * 1. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of Wastewater;      2. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of Wastewater disposed of at the Sewage Disposal Facilities;      3. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of Waste disposed of at the Sewage Disposal Facilities from the Solid Waste Disposal Facility, identified by source and type of Waste;      4. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of Waste disposed of at the Sewage Disposal Facilities from the Water Treatment Facilities, identified by source and type of Waste;      5. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of Waste disposed of at the Sewage Disposal Facilities from operators outside of municipal boundaries;      6. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of all Wastewater Discharges, identified by Discharge location; and      7. Tabular summaries of all data and information generated under the SNP in Schedule 1 of this Licence and pertaining to the Sewage Disposal Facilities, including comparison to EQC listed in Part F, Condition X (EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA); |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Solid Waste Disposal Facilities Operations and Maintenance Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence, including:    * 1. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of Waste under the Plan;      2. Monthly and annual quantities of Waste disposed of at the Solid Waste Disposal Facilities;      3. Monthly and annual quantities of Waste removed from the Solid Waste Disposal Facilities;      4. Tabular summaries of all data and information generated at sampling locations at the Solid Waste Disposal Facilities, as required by the SNP in Schedule 1 of this Licence;      5. A summary of any monitoring results; and      6. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of Waste disposed of at the Sewage Disposal Facilities from operators outside of municipal boundaries; |
|  | 1. A summary of sludge management activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Sewage Disposal Facilities Operations and Maintenance Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X and/or the approved **Sludge Management Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition x of this Licence, including, but not limited to:    * 1. A summary of sludge management activities, including any approved updates or changes to sludge management practices or facilities;      2. A summary of all sludge depth and volume measurements;      3. A summary of any trends in sludge accumulation, if noted, and any future plans for sludge management;      4. A summary of any sludge quality analyses;      5. The volume of any sludge removed from the Sewage Disposal Facilities; and      6. A summary of sludge management, treatment, re-use and/or disposal activities, specifying any final location(s) of sludge; |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved [enter plan name: **Tailings or Processed Kimberlite Management Plan**], referred to in Part F, Condition x of this Licence, including:   i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of [enter: Tailings or Processed Kimberlite];  ii. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres and tonnes, of [enter Waste type, such as Tailings, Processed Kimberlite, slurry] placed in [enter facility name];  iii. The [enter size/height/depth/area] of the [enter facility name];  iv. A summary and interpretation of monitoring results, including any Action Level exceedances; and  v. A description of actions taken in response to any Action Level exceedances. |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Waste Rock Management Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition x of this Licence, including:   i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of Waste Rock;  ii. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres and tonnes, of each type of Waste Rock placed in [enter facility name or construction use location], including a map or diagram of the locations and types of Waste Rock deposited;  iii. The [enter size/height/depth/area] of the [enter facility name];  iv. A summary and interpretation of monitoring results, including any Action Level exceedances; and  v. A description of actions taken in response to any Action Level exceedances. |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Geochemical Characterization and Management Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition X, including:   i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the processes for characterizing and managing [enter Acid Rock Drainage and/or Metal Leaching];  ii. A comparison of the annual quantities of each type of Waste Rock generated to the quantities predicted in the approved Geochemical Characterization and Management Plan;  iii. A summary and interpretation of results from the geochemical monitoring performed under the approved Geochemical Characterization and Management Plan;  iv. A summary and interpretation of results from seepage monitoring performed under the approved Geochemical Characterization and Management Plan, including:  a. a site map with Seepage locations;  b. comparisons to reference locations;  c. an analysis of major trends over the year and since Project inception; and  d. a summary of recommendations for future Seepage monitoring and/or management actions;  v. A summary of results from investigations or activities related to field test cells;  vi. A summary and interpretation of Water quality monitoring results for each of the main source areas [enter list of potential ARD sources used in predictions] and how these compare to predicted values;  vii. A summary of any Action Level exceedances; and  viii. A description of actions taken in response to any Action Level exceedances. |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facility** [enter: **Management or Operations and Maintenance**] **Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition x of this Licence, including:   i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of hydrocarbon-contaminated soil;  ii. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of all Effluent discharged from the Facility;  iii. Monthly and annual quantities, in cubic metres, of contaminated materials including soil, rock, water, snow, and ice placed in the Facility;  **OR**  A summary of contaminated materials accepted into the Facility, including:  a. soil, rock, snow, ice, and water;  b. Sources of materials;  c. Volume and type of material accepted from each source;  d. Analytical results for each type of material from each source;  iv. A summary of treated soil removed from the Facility, including:  a. Volume of soil;  b. Analytical results, including soil chemistry and soil particle size;  c. The locations and land use activity of the receiving sites;  v. A summary of how the contaminated soil was managed during the previous calendar year, including relevant operational details and methods and dates of soil tilling; and  vi. Record of inspections of the Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facility. |
|  | 1. Option 1:   A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Erosion and Sedimentation Management Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence, including:  i. A summary of approved updates or changes to the process or facilities required for the management of erosion and sedimentation;  ii. A description of any erosion susceptible areas encountered;  iii. A summary of activities undertaken to prevent or mitigate erosion;  iv. A report of the performance of mitigations applied to each area;  v. A summary and interpretation of monitoring results, including any Action Level exceedances; and  vi. A description of actions taken in response to any Action Level exceedances.  **OR**  Option 2:  A description of any erosion susceptible areas encountered and a summary of activities to prevent or mitigate erosion, and a report of the performance of erosion mitigations applied in previous years; |
|  | 1. A summary of the results and any actions taken as a result of the following inspections:   i. Inspections conducted to fulfill Part X of this Licence; and  ii. Inspections conducted under the [enter plan or manual name], required under Part X of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A status update on the implementation plan for the most recent Dam Safety Review Report, referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of monitoring results and any Action Level exceedances as per the approved [enter name of monitoring plan], required in Part X, Condition y of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the approved **Spill Contingency Plan**, referred to in Part H, Condition x of this Licence, including:   i. A list and description for all Spills and Unauthorized Releases, including the date, NWT spill number, volume, location, summary of the circumstances and follow-up actions taken, and status (i.e., open or closed), in accordance with the reporting requirements in Part H, Condition X of this Licence; and  ii. An outline of any spill training carried out. |
|  | 1. Option 1:   A summary of any Closure and Reclamation work completed.;  **OR**  Option 2:  A summary of activities conducted in accordance with the **Closure and Reclamation Plan**, referred to in Part I, Condition x of this Licence, including:  i. Details of any Progressive Reclamation undertaken;  ii. A discussion on whether planning and implementation remains on schedule, and a summary of any new scheduling setbacks;  iii. A summary of Reclamation Research completed;  iv. A summary of engagement conducted regarding Closure and Reclamation;  v. A list of any factors that would increase or decrease the Closure Cost Estimate the next time the Estimate is updated; and  vi. [enter a list of any specific information required]. |
|  | 1. Option 1:   Tabular summaries of all data and information generated under the SNP in Schedule 1 of this Licence and graphical summaries of parameters with EQC referred to in Part F, Condition x (EFFLUENT QUALITY CRITERIA, at the points of compliance (SNP Stations X, Y, Z), in Excel format.  **OR**  Option 2:  Tabular summaries of all data and information generated under the SNP in Schedule 1 of this Licence, in Excel format. |
|  | 1. A list of any non-compliance(s) with the conditions of this Licence or any directive from the Board pursuant to the conditions of this Licence; |
|  | 1. A summary of actions taken to address concerns, non-conformances, or deficiencies in any reports filed by an Inspector; |
|  | 1. A table detailing all commitments related to Water use and the Deposit of Waste made during the [enter as appropriate: Environmental Assessment/Environmental Impact Review], with descriptions of how each commitment is being or has been met; and |
|  | 1. Any other details requested by the Board by [enter date] of the year being reported. |

# Schedule X: Conditions Applying to Security

|  | **Condition** | **Rationale** |
| --- | --- | --- |
|  | Option 1: Single Deposit – New Licences  The amount of security referred to in Part C, Condition X (POST SECURITY DEPOSIT), shall total $XX.  Option 2: Phased Amounts, Amendments, Security Adjustments, and Renewals  The amount of security referred to in Part C, Condition X (POST SECURITY DEPOSIT), shall total $XX, as per the following schedule: EXAMPLES:   1. Within X days of the effective date of this Licence, [$XX or an additional $XX]; 2. Following issuance of this Licence, $XX 3. Within X days of issuance of this Licence, [$XX or an additional $XX]; 4. Prior to commencement of [enter: activity, Construction of X, etc.], an additional $XX; 5. [60 or 90] days prior to commencement of [enter: activity, Construction of X, etc.], an additional $XX; | Option 1 will be used for new licences with a single deposit.  Variations and combinations of Option 2 will be used for new licences with phased deposits, security adjustments, and renewals and amendments with or without additional and/or phased deposits. For renewals, Option 2(a) will be used to reflect any security that has already been posted as required under the previous licence and must be transferred to the new licence after issuance; this will also be reflected in the Board’s Reasons for Decision. For amendments and security adjustments, Option 2(b) will be used to reflect existing security that has already been posted and will be maintained.  Options 2(a) and (c) differentiate between amounts associated with the effective date and the issuance date, respectively, because the issuance date will be different than the effective date for amendments and adjustments. Both dates are set out on the cover page for amendments; the issuance date for updated licences is set out in the decision letter. |

# Schedule X: Conditions Applying to Construction

|  | **Condition** | **Rationale** |
| --- | --- | --- |
|  | The **Structure Description and Construction Plan** referred to in Part E, Condition X shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for Structure Description and Construction Plans for non-engineered water and waste management structures. The level of detail provided should be appropriate to the scale and nature of the structure. The Plan should include information about the facilities as a whole, including the structure(s) and any associated supporting infrastructure. |
|  | 1. Information regarding the facilities:   i. A description of the facilities to be constructed, including the purpose of the facilities;  ii. The proposed location(s) of the facilities, with GPS coordinates and a map to scale;  iii. Relevant background information for the area beneath the footprint of the facilities, including the results of any investigations;  iv. Construction specifications and performance parameters;  v. A description of any operations and maintenance requirements associated with the facilities; and  vi. An explanation of why the facilities do not need to be designed by a Professional Engineer. |
|  | 1. Information regarding the Construction of the facilities:   i. A Construction schedule, including sequencing information;  ii. A description of the materials required for Construction, including, but not limited to:  a. sources;  b. quantities;  c. physical characteristics; and  d. geochemical characteristics.  iii. A description of any potential effects on the Receiving Environment associated with Construction of the facilities; and  iv. A description of any mitigation measures that will be undertaken to minimize the potential impacts identified as per (b)(iii). |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring during Construction, including:   i. A description of any monitoring that will be conducted to determine the potential impacts to the Receiving Environment and the effectiveness of the mitigation measures described as per (b)(iv), including, but not limited to:  a. locations;  b. parameters;  c. frequencies; and  d. rationale.  ii. Linkages to other monitoring programs required in this Licence. |
|  | 1. A description of how monitoring will be evaluated and what actions may be taken in response to monitoring results. |
|  | The **Design and Construction Plans** referred to in Part E, Condition X shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for Design and Construction Plans for Engineered Structures. The Plan should include information about the facilities as a whole, including the engineered structure(s) and any associated supporting infrastructure.  Some licences may only have a general schedule condition for all Design and Construction Plans, while others may require a general condition and/or conditions for specific Engineered Structures.  If information about more than one design option was described and considered during the regulatory process (for example, different types or thicknesses of covers), the Plan should include a design alternatives analysis that demonstrates how the final design was selected. This requirement may not be applicable for all projects or all project structures – it is more common for larger projects and projects that were subject to an EA as part of the regulatory process. Unless necessary, the analysis generally should not include new design alternatives that were not considered during the regulatory process, since they may require preliminary screening, and possibly an amendment process if a new design alternative is likely to be implemented. |
|  | 1. Information regarding the design of the facilities:   i. A description of the facilities to be constructed;  ii. The proposed location(s) of the facilities, with GPS coordinates and a map to scale;  iii. Relevant background information for the area beneath the footprint of the facilities, as deemed adequate by the Professional Engineer responsible for the design, including:  a. the results and data from geotechnical and geochemical investigations; hydrogeological investigations; and programs to characterize soil, rock, Groundwater, ground ice, and ground temperature conditions to the depth expected to be affected by the facilities; and  b. any other relevant information.  iv. A design alternatives analysis;  v. Design specifications and performance parameters [if required by this Licence, enter: and quantifiable performance objectives as established by the Engineer of Record];  vi. Stability analyses;  vii. A description of how the design has been optimized for Closure and Reclamation;  viii. A description of how climate change projections and considerations have been incorporated into the design;  ix. A description of any instrumentation that will be installed as part of the facilities, including locations and rationale; and  x. A description of any operations and maintenance requirements associated with the design of the facilities. |
|  | 1. Information regarding the Construction of the facilities:   i. A Construction schedule, including sequencing information;  ii. A description of the materials required for Construction, including, but not limited to:  a. sources;  b. quantities;  c. physical characteristics; and  d. geochemical characteristics.  iii. A description of any potential effects on the Receiving Environment associated with Construction of the facilities; and  iv. A description of any mitigation measures that will be undertaken to minimize the potential impacts identified above. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring during Construction [and operation], including:   i. A description of any monitoring that will be conducted to detect potential impacts to the Receiving Environment and evaluate the effectiveness of the mitigation measures described above, including, but not limited to:  a. locations;  b. parameters;  c. frequencies; and  d. rationale.  ii. Linkages to other monitoring programs required in this Licence. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results during Construction, including:   i. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to the performance of the mitigation measures; and  ii. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and, generally, which types of actions may be taken by the Licensee if the Action Level is exceeded. |
|  | 1. A **Quality Control Plan** stamped by a Professional Engineer, a component of which includes a plan for a Professional Engineer to supervise and field check Construction activities. |

# Schedule X: Conditions Applying to Waste and Water Management

|  | **Condition** | **Rationale** |
| --- | --- | --- |
|  | The **Water and Wastewater Management Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following information: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for a Water and Wastewater Management Plan. The level of detail provided should be appropriate to the scale and nature of a project.  There may be some overlap with other plans (e.g., facility O&M Plans, Tailings Management Plan, Waste Rock Management Plan), since specific facilities will have Water and Wastewater management systems. An overview of the entire Project should be presented here, with linkages to other relevant plans.  If the Project requires other management plans, the details of monitoring and action levels will typically be required in those plans, with linkages noted in this Plan as per (c)(ii).  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule.  This Plan is typically not required for municipalities, since this information is provided through O&M plans. |
|  | 1. Information regarding Water and Wastewater management, including:   i. A summary, of all the Water and Wastewater streams and management system(s);  ii. Maps and/or diagrams of all the Water and Wastewater streams, management systems, and monitoring locations, from Water sources through to the Receiving Environment and, where applicable, Receiving Water;  iii. A description of the processes and facilities intended for the purposes of obtaining Water from [insert Water source(s)] for use at the Project;  iv. A description of the processes and facilities for the collection, storage and management of surface Runoff generated on site;  v. A description of the processes and facilities for the collection, storage and management of any Wastewater resulting from the Project, including a description of procedures that will be employed to minimize the quantity of Wastewater;  vi. A description of the processes and facilities for the treatment and Discharge of Effluent to the Receiving Water, including a description of procedures that will be employed to minimize the quantity of Effluent discharged to the Receiving Water; and  vii. A description of the processes and facilities for the collection, storage, and management of any Water or Wastewater related to the Waste Rock Storage Areas, including:  a. Identification of all potential sources of drainage from each storage site and the distance to the downstream Receiving Water;  b. A detailed description, including a map or diagram, of the structures intended to contain, withhold, divert, or retain Water or Wastes related to the Waste Rock Storage Facilities, and their predicted performance in terms of flow, capacity, and Water quality parameters;  c. A summary of proposed measures for controlling runoff and  Seepage Water volume, routing, and quality; and  d. Any linkages to activities described in the Waste Rock Management Plan.  viii. Predicted overall Water balance for the Project, including:  a. Detailed Water balances for [list specific facilities if required];  b. A description of when the Water balance will be recalculated; and  c. A description of when changes to the Water balance will require updates to the Water and Wastewater Management Plan.  ix. A description of how climate change has been considered, including any linkages to other plans required under this Licence; and  x. Any other information required to describe how Water and Wastewater will be managed such that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 will be met. |
|  | 1. Information related to Dewatering activities, including:   i. Volume of water produced by Dewatering from each Water source;  ii. A schedule for Dewatering, including daily flow rates;  iii. Pumping methods, including locations of intake and outflow structures;  iv. The frequency, location, and procedures for monitoring flow rates;  v. The design of the pipeline, diffusers, and related facilities, with appropriate maps or diagrams of the components;  vi. A description of, and any mitigation measures for, any predicted hydrological or water quality impacts to downstream Watercourse(s); and  vii. The procedures for inspecting any erosion along the affected Watercourse(s). |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring, including:   i. Details of the monitoring, including rationale, that will be undertaken for each component of the Water and Wastewater management systems, including:  a. monitoring locations, parameters, frequencies and duration, methods, and types of instrumentation; and  b. predicted performance values for monitoring parameters based on expected facility design.  ii. Linkages to other monitoring programs required under this Licence; and  iii. Any other information about monitoring that will be performed to meet the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results, including:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to the performance of the water management system; and  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and, generally, which types of actions may be taken by the Licensee if the Action Level is exceeded. |
|  | 1. Information regarding contingency planning, including:   i. A description of reasonably foreseeable scenarios; and  ii. For each scenario identified in (e)(i) above:  a. A description of response action options; and  b. A risk-based analysis of response action options, identifying preferred options and alternate options. |
|  | The **Erosion and Sedimentation Management Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X shall include, but not be limited to, the following information: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for an Erosion and Sedimentation Management Plan.  This Plan may be required if erosion, sedimentation, and/or permafrost degradation potential or risk is identified in the regulatory process and the preliminary screening. In some cases, a separate Permafrost Protection Plan may be required; however, permafrost protection for Engineered Structures will typically be incorporated into the Design and Construction Plan.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding erosion, sedimentation, and permafrost degradation potential and management, including:   i. A summary of the areas identified as susceptible to erosion, sedimentation, and permafrost degradation;  ii. Maps and/or diagrams, including:  a. Locations of areas susceptible to erosion, sedimentation, and permafrost degradation;  b. Locations of erosion and sedimentation management structures;  c. Locations of erosion and sedimentation control equipment and supplies; and  d. Monitoring locations.  iii. A description of the process and criteria for assessing the risk of erosion, sedimentation, and/or permafrost degradation;  iv. A description of the best management practices that will be employed for different levels of assessed risk; and  v. A description of Water management during [list activities];  vi. A description of how climate change has been considered, including any linkages to other plans required under this Licence; and  vii. Any other information required to describe how erosion and sediment release into the Receiving Environment, and permafrost degradation will be minimized. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring, including;   i. Details of the monitoring, including rationale, that will be undertaken with respect to the effectiveness and maintenance of erosion and sediment management practices, including;  a. monitoring locations, parameters, frequencies, methods, and types of instrumentation; and  b. predicted performance values for monitoring parameters based on expected facility design.  ii. Linkages to other monitoring programs required under this Licence; and  iii. Any other information about monitoring that will be performed to meet the objectives in Part F, Condition 1. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results, including:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to the performance of erosion and sedimentation control measures; and  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and generally, which types of actions will be taken for the Action Levels exceeded. |
|  | 1. Information regarding contingency planning, including:   i. A description of reasonably foreseeable scenarios; and  ii. For each scenario identified in (d)(i) above:  a. A description of response action options; and  b. A risk-based analysis of response action options, identifying preferred options and alternate options. |
|  | The **Explosives Management Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for an Explosives Management Plan.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding explosives management, including:   i. A description of the facilities used for management and storage of explosives;  ii. Maps and diagrams of the facilities and monitoring locations;  iii. A description of the mitigation approaches to be employed with respect to storage, handling, blasting, disposal, and spills;  iv. The predicted ammonium nitrate dissolution rate;  v. A description of how climate change has been considered, including any linkages to other plans required under this Licence; and  vi. Any other information required to describe how explosives will be managed such that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 will be met. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring, including;   i. Details of the monitoring, including rationale, that will be undertaken to evaluate whether the mitigation approaches for storage, handling, and blasting procedures are effective, including;  a. monitoring locations, parameters, frequencies, methods, and types of instrumentation; and  b. predicted performance values for monitoring parameters based on expected facility design.  ii. Linkages to other monitoring programs required under this Licence; and  iii. Any other information about monitoring that will be performed to meet the objectives in Part F, Condition 1. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results, including:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to the performance of the mitigation measures; and  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and generally, which types of actions will be taken for the Action Levels exceeded. |
|  | 1. Information regarding contingency planning, including:   i. A description of reasonably foreseeable scenarios; and  ii. For each scenario identified in (d)(i) above:  a. A description of response action options; and  b. A risk-based analysis of response action options, identifying preferred options and alternate options. |
| 4. | The **Waste Rock Management Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for a Waste Rock Management Plan.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding Waste Rock management, including:   i. A description of the facilities used for the management and storage of Waste Rock, ore, overburden, and till, including:  a. appropriate maps or diagrams, including monitoring locations; and  b. descriptions of the construction methods that will be used to limit generation of acidic drainage and/or Metal Leaching.  ii. An annual schedule for till storage, ore stockpiling, and Waste Rock production, over the term of this Licence, including:  a. Sources, tonnage, volume and destination of each rock type; and  b. A description of when changes to the schedule will require updates to the Plan.  iii. A description of the operational procedures that will be used to segregate and manage the Waste Rock and ore;  iv. Option 1:  A description of the geochemical criteria for classifying, managing, and placing Waste Rock and ore, including linkages to the **Geochemical Characterization and Monitoring Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X;  **OR**  Option 2:  A description of geochemical characterization and management, including:  a. A characterization of rock types (mineralogy and geology of typical rock units), including assessment of potential for Acid/Alkaline Drainage and Metal Leaching;  b. A description of the potential uses for each rock type;  c. A description of the geochemical criteria for classifying, managing, and placing Waste Rock and ore; and  d. A description of the sampling program and analytical methods that will be used to support the operational classification and management of all rock types.  v. A summary of Water and Wastewater management for the Waste Rock Storage Facilities, with linkages to the Water and Wastewater Management Plan;  vi. A description of how climate change has been considered, including any linkages to the Waste Rock Storage Facilities Design and Construction Plan(s) and other plans required under this Licence; and  vii. Any other information required to describe how Waste Rock will be managed such that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 of this Licence are achieved. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring activities:   i. Details of the monitoring, including rationale, that will be undertaken to evaluate geotechnical [and geochemical] stability, thermal characterization, Seepage quality and quantity, and Runoff for all Waste Rock Storage Facilities, including:  a. monitoring locations, parameters, frequency, methods, and types of instrumentation; and  b. predicted performance values for monitoring parameters based on facility design.  ii. Linkages to other monitoring programs required under this Licence; and  iii. Any other information about the monitoring that will be performed to meet the objectives in Part F, Condition 1. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to the performance of erosion and sedimentation control measures; and  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and generally, which types of actions will be taken for the Action Levels exceeded. |
|  | 1. Information regarding contingency planning, including:   i. A description of reasonably foreseeable scenarios; and  ii. For each scenario identified in (d)(i) above:  a. A description of response action options; and  b. A risk-based analysis of response action options, identifying preferred options and alternate options. |
| 5. | The **Geochemical Characterization and Monitoring Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for a Geochemical Characterization and Monitoring Plan.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding geochemical characterization, including:   i. Option 1:  A summary of findings from previous geochemical characterization (Acid Rock Drainage/Metal Leaching potential) on [list types of materials (e.g., Waste Rock, Processed Kimberlite, overburden, etc.)], including references and weblinks to previous reports;  **OR**  Option 2:  A description of geochemical characterization studies to identify PAG materials and/or materials with Metal Leaching potential, including sampling frequencies, rock units, volumes, and test methods;  ii. A description of the geochemical characterization of overburden that will be used in Construction [and/or] for Closure and Reclamation, including specific measures to ensure that this material meets or exceeds the geochemical cut-off criteria defined for non-PAG;  iii. Criteria, with rationale, for defining:  a. PAG, non-PAG and Metal Leaching materials; and  b. high, moderate, and low risk Waste Rock;  iv. Production schedules showing estimated volumes and tonnages of [list types of materials (e.g., Waste Rock, Tailings, Processed Kimberlite, overburden, etc.)] that will be produced each year over the duration of the Project. |
|  | 1. Information regarding geochemical assessments and supplemental monitoring, including:   i. A description of geochemical assessments, including visual inspections, and supplemental sampling and testing of [list types of materials to be tested (e.g., Waste Rock, Tailings, Processed Kimberlite, overburden, etc.)];  ii. A description of sampling and analysis of any Seepage or Runoff found outside of the Water management system (e.g., roads, rock pads etc.), or that does not report directly to an SNP monitoring station;  iii. A description of monitoring of the field test cells, including sampling frequency, field measurements, and analytical parameters;  iv. Linkages to other monitoring programs required under this Licence; and  v. Any other information about the monitoring that will be performed to meet the objectives in Part F, Condition 1. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to the performance of this Plan with respect to geochemical stability as well as Seepage and Runoff quality and quantity;  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and, generally, which types of actions may be taken by the Licensee if the Action Level is exceeded; |
| 6. | The [**Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] Management Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for a Tailings or Processed Kimberlite Management Plan. This Condition may also be adapted for co-disposal with Waste Rock.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] management:   i. A description, with appropriate maps or diagrams, of the facilities used for [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] management, including a description of the Waste streams that report to each facility;  ii. A schedule showing the expected quantities and destinations for [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] produced each year, including an evaluation of storage capacity over time for each Containment Facility;  iii. A description of [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] deposition procedures, including:  a. details on any physical or chemical treatment applied before deposition;  b. details on delivery and deposition methods;  c. details on any deposition sequencing;  d. details on any monitoring and recording conducted to confirm appropriate placement; and  e. any other information necessary to describe how [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] are deposited;  iv. A description of dust control measures for the [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] Containment Facilities;  v. A summary of Water management for the [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] Containment Facilities, with linkages to the Water and Wastewater Management Plan;  vi. A description of how climate change has been considered, including any linkages to the [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] Containment Facilities Design and Construction Plan(s) and other plans required under this Licence; and  vii. Any other information required to describe how the [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] will be managed such that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are achieved. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring, including:   i. Details and rationale for monitoring, including:  a. [list types of monitoring required] for all [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] facilities;  b. monitoring locations, parameters, frequency, duration, methods, and types of instrumentation;  c. a site map to scale with monitoring locations; and  d. predicted performance values for monitoring parameters based on expected facility design.  ii. Linkages to other monitoring programs required in this Licence; and  iii. Any other information about the monitoring that will be performed to meet the objectives in Part F, Condition 1. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 of this Licence are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, of Action Levels applicable to the performance of the [Tailings or Processed Kimberlite] facilities with respect to monitored parameters; and,  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed, and generally which types of actions will be taken if the Action Level is exceeded. |
|  | 1. Information regarding contingency planning, including:   i. A description of reasonably foreseeable scenarios; and  ii. For each scenario identified in (d)(i) above:  a. A description of response action options; and  b. A risk-based analysis of response action options, identifying preferred options and alternate options. |
| 7. | The **[insert facility name] Operations and Maintenance Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for an Operations and Maintenance Plan.  This Condition will typically not be used for Operations and Maintenance Plans for municipal licences or Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil Treatment Facilities, which have applicable templates and guidelines, respectively. It may be used in some cases for larger or new municipal facilities, in which case, some or all of the specific information requirements listed in the applicable LWB O&M Template may be incorporated into this Condition. Although not common, this Condition may also be included for other types of projects to provide more detailed information about the operation of a specific large or complex facility.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding the facilities and operations, including:   i. A description of the [insert facility name] and associated infrastructure;  ii. A description of the operating procedures for the [insert facility name];  iii. A description of the maintenance procedures and schedules for the [insert facility name]; and  iv. A description of how climate change has been considered, including any linkages to the [insert facility name] Design and Construction Plan and other plans required under this Licence. |
|  | 1. Information regarding surveillance and monitoring, including:   i. A description of the surveillance procedures and schedules for the [insert facility name];  ii. Details of the monitoring, including rationale, that will be undertaken for each component of the [insert facility name], including:  a. monitoring locations, parameters, frequencies, methods, and types of instrumentation;  b. a map to scale, with monitoring locations; and  c. predicted performance values for monitoring parameters based on expected facility design.  iii. Linkages to other monitoring programs and inspections required under this Licence. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring, including:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to the performance of the [insert facility name]; and  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and, generally, which types of actions will be taken for the Action Levels exceeded. |
|  | 1. Information regarding contingency planning, including:   i. A description of reasonably foreseeable scenarios; and  ii. For each scenario identified in (d)(i) above:  a. A description of response action options; and  b. A risk-based analysis of response action options, identifying preferred options and alternate options. |
| 8. | The **Water Monitoring Plan** referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following information: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for a Water Monitoring Plan.  This Plan may be required when an extensive AEMP is not necessary, but supplemental water quality and/or quantity monitoring is needed to identify potential impacts in the Receiving Water (e.g., HCSTF or advanced mineral exploration projects). Depending on the nature and scale of required monitoring, the monitoring may be described in a Water and Wastewater Management Plan, rather than in a separate Water Monitoring Plan. The need for one or both of these Plans will be determined during the regulatory process.  This Plan could include surface water, wastewater, and groundwater. If groundwater monitoring is extensive, a separate Groundwater Monitoring Plan may be required.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding site conditions:   i. A description of the surface hydrology, including appropriate maps and diagrams, as assessed by a hydrologist, hydrogeologist, or equivalent professional;  ii. A description of the underlying and surrounding hydrogeology, including appropriate maps and flow diagrams, as assessed by a hydrologist, hydrogeologist, or equivalent professional;  iii. A summary of baseline data including:  a. Baseline data collected to date;  b. Identification of baseline data gaps; and  c. A description of methods for filling in baseline data gaps or methods for approximating baseline conditions if necessary. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring:   i. Identification, with rationale, of parameters of concern that should be used as indicators of potential impacts from Project-related activities on the Receiving Water;  ii. A description, with rationale, of the site-specific monitoring activities required to identify impacts from Project-related activities on the Receiving Water;  iii. A description of monitoring protocols, methodologies, parameters, and frequencies specific to each type of monitoring identified in (b) (ii) above;  iv. Site map(s) and attached table or detailed legend, illustrating monitoring and sampling locations; and  v. A description of the quality assurance and quality control measures followed for each monitoring type; |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results:   i. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels for each parameter of concern; and  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and, generally, which types of actions will be taken for the Action Level exceeded. |
| 9. | The **Groundwater Monitoring Plan**, referred to in Part F, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following information: | This Condition sets out the information requirements for a Groundwater Monitoring Plan.  Depending on the nature and scale of required monitoring, Groundwater monitoring may be described in a Water and Wastewater Management Plan, or an overall Water Quality Monitoring Plan, rather than in a separate Groundwater Monitoring Plan. The need for any of these Plans will be determined during the regulatory process.  Reporting on the activities conducted under this Plan is included in the Annual Water Licence Report Schedule. |
|  | 1. Information regarding Groundwater conditions:   i. A description of the underlying and surrounding hydrogeology, including appropriate maps and flow diagrams [that depict seasonal variations and/or interactions between Groundwater and surface Water], as assessed by a hydrologist, hydrogeologist, or equivalent professional; and  ii. A summary of baseline data including:  a. Baseline data collected to date;  b. Identification of baseline data gaps; and  c. A description of methods for filling in baseline data gaps or methods for approximating baseline conditions if necessary. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring:   i. Identification, with rationale, of parameters of concern that should be used as indicators of potential impacts from Project-related activities on the Receiving Water;  ii. A description, including detailed rationale, of the site-specific Groundwater monitoring activities required to identify Project-related impacts on Groundwater quality and quantity;  iii. The location and purpose, with rationale, of all existing and proposed Groundwater monitoring stations, including a map, as provided by Professional Engineer, hydrologist, hydrogeologist, or equivalent professional;  iv. A description of monitoring protocols, methodologies, parameters, and frequencies specific to each type of monitoring identified in item (b)(i) above; and  v. A description of the quality assurance and quality control measures followed for each monitoring type;  vi. Linkages to other monitoring programs required under this Licence; and  vii. Any other information about the monitoring that will be performed to meet the objectives in Part F, Condition 1. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results:   i. A description of how the results of Groundwater monitoring will be compared to quantity and quality predictions, and used to update predictions as required;  ii. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to those corrective actions necessary to ensure that the objectives listed in Part F, Condition 1 are met. This description shall include:  a. Definitions, with rationale, for Action Levels applicable to groundwater quality and quantity; and  b. For each Action Level, a description of how exceedances of the Action Level will be assessed and generally, which types of actions will be taken for the Action Level exceeded |

# Schedule X: Conditions Applying to Aquatic Effects Monitoring Program

|  | **Condition** | **Rationale** |
| --- | --- | --- |
|  | The **AEMP Annual Report** referred to in Part G, Condition X of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following: | This Condition details the information, analysis, and evaluation that must be presented in an AEMP Annual Report. Further information is available in the LWB/GNWT [*Guidelines for Aquatic Effects Monitoring Programs*](https://mvlwb.com/sites/default/files/aemp_guidelines_-_mar_5_19.pdf).  If changes to the AEMP Design Plan are recommended as part of this Report, they should not be implemented until they are incorporated into the Design Plan as directed and approved by the Board. |
|  | 1. A plain language summary and interpretation of the major results obtained in the preceding calendar year; |
|  | 1. A summary of activities conducted under the AEMP; |
|  | 1. A summary of any spills, activities, or other considerations within the report time frame that could influence the results of the AEMP; |
|  | 1. Tabular summaries of all data and information generated under the AEMP, in Excel format; |
|  | 1. An interpretation of the results, including an evaluation of any identified environmental effects that occurred as a result of the Project; |
|  | 1. A comparison of predicted mixing and dilution of Effluent in [enter name of Watercourse] in comparison to monitoring data; |
|  | 1. An analysis that integrates the results of individual monitoring components collected in a calendar year and describes the ecological significance of the results; |
|  | 1. A comparison of monitoring results to Action Levels as defined in the approved **AEMP Design Plan**; |
|  | 1. For any low Action Level exceedances, a summary of the nature and extent of the exceedance, as well as a description of actions taken in response to the exceedance; |
|  | 1. An evaluation of any adaptive management response actions implemented; |
|  | 1. Recommendations, with rationale, for changes to any aspect of the **AEMP Design Plan**; and |
|  | 1. Any other information specified in the approved **AEMP Design Plan**. |

# Schedule X: Conditions Applying to Closure and Reclamation

|  | **Condition** | **Rationale** |
| --- | --- | --- |
|  | The **Closure and Reclamation Plan** referred to in Part I, Condition x of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to the following information: | This Condition details the information requirements for Closure and Reclamation Plans for small projects. For consistency across all projects, the information requirements are summarized from the LWB/AANDC [*Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*](https://glwb.com/sites/default/files/documents/wg/WLWB_5363_Guidelines_Closure_Reclamation_WR.pdf); however, the list may be refined to reflect the size and nature of the Project, and information gathered during the regulatory process. |
|  | 1. A plain language summary of the Plan; |
|  | 1. A description of the overall goals for Closure and Reclamation of the Project, including expected future land use; |
|  | 1. A description of the Closure and Reclamation planning team; |
|  | 1. A description of engagement related to Closure and Reclamation planning, including a summary of completed and planned engagement, and links to the **Engagement Plan** referred to in Part B, Condition x for the Project; |
|  | 1. A list of any other regulatory authorizations required for Closure and Reclamation of the Project; |
|  | 1. A description of the pre-existing and current Project environment, including, but not limited to:   i. climatic conditions;  ii. physical conditions;  iii. chemical conditions;  iv. biological conditions;  v. any physical or chemical assessments of soil, water, and permafrost; and  vi. traditional uses. |
|  | 1. A description of the Project, including, but not limited to:   i. site history;  ii. Project development;  iii. current status of the Project;  iv. maps delineating all disturbed areas, borrow material locations, site facilities, hydrological features, and elevation contours; and  v. photographs. |
|  | 1. A description of each Project component, including, but not limited to:   i. [enter list of components];  ii. areas affected by spills or Unauthorized Releases; and  iii. other areas affected by Project activities. |
|  | 1. Option 1:   For each Project component identified in Condition (h) above, a description of Closure and Reclamation plans, including, but not limited to:  i. Closure Objectives and Criteria;  ii. preferred Closure and Reclamation option and method;  iii. design drawings, signed and stamped by a Professional Engineer, for any Engineered Structures;  iv. Water management and restoration of natural drainage;  v. predicted environmental effects during and after Closure and Reclamation activities;  vi. post-closure monitoring, maintenance, and reporting;  vii. uncertainties and contingencies;  viii. climate change considerations; and  ix. Closure and Reclamation Research plans  **OR**  Option 2:  For the Project site, a description of Closure and Reclamation plans, including, but not limited to:  i. Closure Objectives and Criteria;  ii. preferred Closure and Reclamation option and method for each Project component identified in Condition (h) above;  iii. design drawings, signed and stamped by a Professional Engineer, for any Engineered structures;  iv. Water management and restoration of natural drainage;  v. predicted environmental effects during and after Closure and Reclamation activities;  vi. post-closure monitoring, maintenance, and reporting;  vii. uncertainties and contingencies;  viii. climate change considerations; and  ix. Closure and Reclamation Research plans. |
|  | 1. A description of any planned Progressive Reclamation; |
|  | 1. A plan for Temporary Closure, including, but not limited to the following information:   i. Temporary Closure goals and objectives;  ii. a description of activities and methods;  iii. a description of monitoring, maintenance, and reporting;  iv. contingencies; and  v. an implementation schedule. |  |
|  | 1. implementation schedule that includes Progressive Reclamation and final Closure and Reclamation activities; and |
|  | 1. A Closure Cost Estimate. |
|  | Option 1:  The Component-Specific **Closure and Reclamation Plan** referred to in Part I, Condition x shall include, but not be limited to, the applicable contents of Tables 8.1 and 8.2 of Environment and Climate Change Canada’s *Solid Waste Management for Northern and Remote Communities: Planning and Technical Guidance Document*.  OR  Option 2:  The Component-Specific **Closure and Reclamation Plan** referred to in Part I, Condition x of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following information: | This Condition details the information requirements for Component-Specific Closure and Reclamation Plans. The information requirements are consistent with the LWB/AANDC [*Guidelines for the Closure and Reclamation of Advanced Mineral Exploration and Mine Sites in the Northwest Territories*](https://glwb.com/sites/default/files/documents/wg/WLWB_5363_Guidelines_Closure_Reclamation_WR.pdf).  Component-Specific Closure and Reclamation Plans must be focused on the information relevant to the component being closed but must also be consistent with the overall Closure and Reclamation Plan for the site. |
|  | 1. A plain language summary of the Plan; |
|  | 1. A description of the overall goals for closure and Reclamation of the Project, including expected future land use; |
|  | 1. A description of engagement related to Closure and Reclamation planning for the Project component, including a summary of completed and planned engagement, and links to the **Engagement Plan** referred to in Part B, Condition x for the Project; |
|  | 1. A description of the pre-existing and current Project environment as it relates to the Project component, including, but not limited to:   i. climatic conditions;  ii. physical conditions;  iii. chemical conditions;  iv. biological conditions;  v. any physical or chemical assessments of soil, water, and permafrost; and  vi. traditional uses. |
|  | 1. A description of the Project, including, but not limited to:   i. site history;  ii. Project development; and  iii. current status of the Project. |
|  | 1. A description of the Project component being closed, including, but not limited to:   i. purpose, development, history, and current status;  ii. maps and elevation contours;  iii. photographs;  iv. a summary of inspections and any other assessments;  v. a summary of monitoring results; and  vi. a summary of any non-compliance events. |
|  | 1. For the Project component being closed, a description of Closure and Reclamation plans, including, but not limited to:   i. Closure Objectives and Criteria;  ii. Closure and Reclamation options and selected closure activity;  iii. design drawings, signed and stamped by a Professional Engineer, for any Engineered Structures;  iv. Water management and restoration of natural drainage;  v. predicted environmental effects during and after Closure and Reclamation activities;  vi. post-closure monitoring, maintenance, and reporting;  vii. uncertainties and contingencies;  viii. climate change considerations;  ix. Closure and Reclamation Research plans; and  x. a description of how Closure and Reclamation of the component relates to the Closure and Reclamation Plan for the Project. |
|  | 1. An implementation schedule; and |
|  | 1. A revised/updated Closure Cost Estimate. |
|  | The **Reclamation Research Report** Referred to in Part I, Condition x of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to, the following information for each Reclamation Research plan identified in the **Closure and Reclamation Plan**: | This Condition details the information requirements for the Reclamation Research Report. |
|  | 1. A plain language summary of the results, and a plain language interpretation of the significance of the results; |
|  | 1. A discussion of whether Reclamation Research planning and implementation remains on schedule; |
|  | 1. Analysis and interpretation of the data collected during the reporting period and to date; |
|  | 1. An explanation of the significance of the results for Closure and Reclamation planning; |
|  | 1. Reclamation Research data for the reporting period; and |
|  | 1. An evaluation of the effectiveness of the Reclamation Research plan. |
|  | The **Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plan** referred to in Part I, Condition x of this Licence shall include, but not be limited to the following information: | This Condition details the information requirements for Post-Closure Monitoring and Maintenance Plans.  The results of the activities carried out under this Plan will be reported as set out in the approved Plan. At a minimum, these results must be reported in the Performance Assessment Report(s). |
|  | 1. Information regarding site conditions:   i. A summary of completed Closure and Reclamation activities, including links to Closure and Reclamation Completion Reports;  ii. A list of the Closure Objectives and Criteria for completed Closure and Reclamation activities;  iii. A list of all components, Closure Objectives, and Closure Criteria that require monitoring, surveillance, and/or inspections;  iv. A list of all components that require geotechnical inspections by a Professional Engineer;  v. For all structures identified in (a)(iii) that meet the definition of a Dam:  a. A description of the Dam;  b. A consequence assessment; and  c. The current classification of the Dam. |
|  | 1. Information regarding monitoring:   i. A description, including detailed rationale, of the site-specific monitoring activities required to evaluate the Closure Objectives and Criteria for the Project, including links to the approved Closure and Reclamation Plan;  ii. A description of monitoring protocols, methodologies, parameters, frequency, and duration specific to each type of monitoring identified in (i) above;  iii. Site map(s) and attached table or detailed legend, illustrating monitoring and sampling locations; and  iv. A description of the quality assurance and quality control measures followed for each monitoring type. |
|  | 1. Information regarding responses to monitoring results:   i. A description of how the Licensee will evaluate the monitoring results against the Closure Objectives and Criteria for the Project;  ii. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of monitoring to the implementation of contingencies, revisions to the Plan, and/or other necessary response actions. |
|  | 1. Information regarding surveillance and inspections:   i. A description, including detailed rationale, of the method and schedule for surveillance and inspections for each component identified in (a)(iii);  ii. A description, including detailed rationale, of the schedule for geotechnical inspections for each component identified in (a)(iv); and  iii. A description, including detailed rationale, of the schedule for Dam Safety Reviews for each component identified in (a)(v). |
|  | 1. Information about responses to surveillance and inspections:   i. A description of how the Licensee will evaluate the results of surveillance and inspections against the Closure Objectives and Criteria for the Project; and  ii. A description of how the Licensee will link the results of surveillance and inspections to the implementation of contingencies, revisions to the Plan, and/or any other necessary response actions. |
|  | 1. Information regarding maintenance:   i. A description and schedule of routine maintenance work to be conducted at the site;  ii. A description of the expected timeline for routine maintenance, including a description of how the Licensee will determine when routine maintenance is no longer required;  iii. A description of reasonably likely non-routine maintenance work that may be required, with linkages to other plans required under this Licence;  iv. A description of how and when the Licensee will notify the Board and the Inspector of any proposed non-routine maintenance work;  v. A description of any potential impacts to the Receiving Environment during routine maintenance work;  vi. A detailed description of any measures used to prevent or mitigate impacts to the Receiving Environment during routine maintenance work; and  vii. A description of any monitoring including, but not limited to, sampling locations, parameters measured and frequencies of sampling to be carried out during maintenance activities to determine impacts to the Receiving Environment. |
|  | 1. A description of how the results of the activities carried out under this Plan will be reported. |  |

# Annex A: Authorized Potential Water Sources and Maximum Water Use Volumes

|  |  |  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- | --- | --- |
| **Water Source Name and Type** | **Geographic Coordinates**  **(Center)** | | **Purpose of Water Use** | **Estimated Volume Available for Use**  **(m3)** | **Maximum Water Use Volume/Rate**  **(units)** |
| Latitude | Longitude |
|  |  |  |  |  | [This volume may reflect the estimated volume available for use, or protective limit(s) specific to one or more of the authorized Water sources based on the evidence. Licensees should note that actual authorized Water use volumes may be lower as per the combined total set out in the WATER SOURCE AND MAXIMUM VOLUME Condition, and/or due to the MINIMUM DEPTH and/or MAXIMUM UNDER-ICE WITHDRAWAL VOLUME Conditions.] |
|  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |  |  |

**Signed on behalf of the [Enter Name of BOARD]**

|  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- |
|  |  |  |

**[Enter NAME of Chair], Chair [Enter NAME of Witness], Witness**

**Attachments**

# Attachment A – Concordance Table of Items Requiring Submission

The table below summarizes the items the Licensee is required to submit as per the Licence conditions. In the event of a discrepancy between this table and the Licence conditions, the Licence conditions shall prevail.

|  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- |
| **Condition Location** | **Item** | **Date** |
| Part X, Condition Y | [name of report, plan, notification, etc.] | [due date] |
|  |  |  |
|  |  |  |
|  |  |  |
|  |  |  |

# Attachment B – Revision History Table

The table below summarizes revisions made to the Licence since its effective date (as set out on the Cover Page).

|  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- |
| **Date** | **Location of Change** | **Description of Change** |
| [issuance date of updated or amended Licence] | [Part(s) and/or Condition(s) of Licence] |  |
|  |  |  |
|  |  |  |
|  |  |  |
|  |  |  |

1. Defined terms are capitalized throughout the License, including when used in other definitions. [↑](#footnote-ref-2)